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LESTER J. MARSTON 
California State Bar No. 081030 
THE LAW OFFICES OF RAPPORT AND MARSTON 
AN ASSOCIATION OF SOLE PRACTITIONERS  
405 West Perkins Street 
Ukiah, California 95482 
Telephone: 707-462-6846 
Facsimile: 707-462-4235 
Email: ljmarston@rmlawoffice.net 
 
Attorney  for Plaintiffs 

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

 
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
BLUE LAKE RANCHERIA, 
CHICKEN RANCH RANCHERIA OF 
ME-WUK INDIANS, and PICAYUNE 
RANCHERIA OF THE 
CHUKCHANSI INDIANS 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
v. 
 
KALSHI INC., KALSHIEX LLC, 
ROBINHOOD MARKETS, INC., 
ROBINHOOD DERIVATIVES LLC, 
and DOES 1-20, 
 
   Defendants. 

 Case No.:   
 

COMPLAINT FOR 
DECLARATORY AND 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF AND 
MONEY DAMAGES 
 
[25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(i); 18 
U.S.C. § 1964] 
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
  

 

INTRODUCTION 

 1. This is an action brought by three (3) federally recognized Indian 

Tribes, the Blue Lake Rancheria, the Chicken Ranch Rancheria of Me-Wuk Indians, 

and the 3LFD\XQH�5DQFKHULD�RI�WKH�&KXNFKDQVL�,QGLDQV��FROOHFWLYHO\��WKH�³7ULEHV´�, 

seeking a preliminary and permanent injunction against the defendants to prevent 

them from engaging in illegal sports gambling on the 7ULEHV¶ respective reservations 
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in direct violation of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq. 

�³,*5$´���WKH�7ULEHV¶ Tribal-6WDWH�*DPLQJ�&RPSDFWV��³&RPSDFWV´��ZLWK�WKH�6WDWH�

RI�&DOLIRUQLD� �³6WDWH´�� HQWHUHG� LQWR�SXUVXDQW� WR� WKH� ,*5$��Secretarial Procedures 

�³3URFHGXUHV´��issued by the Secretary pursuant to the IGRA, the Tribes¶ Gaming 

Ordinances �³2UGLQDQFHV´�� approved by the Chairman of the National Indian 

Gaming Commission pursuant to the IGRA, and the respective Tribal Gaming 

Commissions¶ regulations adopted pursuant to the Tribes¶ federally approved 

Ordinances and Compacts�� DOO� RI�ZKLFK� SURKLELW� VSRUWV� JDPEOLQJ� RQ� WKH� 7ULEHV¶�

UHVHUYDWLRQV�RU�³,QGLDQ�/DQGV´��³5HVHUYDWLRQV´�, as defined by the IGRA.  

 2. By way of background, fRU� WKH� PDMRULW\� RI� WKLV� &RXQWU\¶V� KLVWRU\��

gambling on sports has been illegal under federal law and the laws of most states for 

both moral reasons and to ensure that sporting events are fair and free from 

gambling-related corruption. In 1992, Congress enacted the Professional and 

Amateur Sports Protection Act, 28 U.S. Code § 3701 et seq., which purported to bar 

the States (other than Nevada and New Jersey) from authorizing sports betting. In 

2018, however, the Supreme Court struck down that Act, recognizing that 

³$PHULFDQV� KDYH� QHYHU� EHHQ� RI� RQH� PLQG� DERXW� JDPEOLQJ>�@´� DQG� holding that 

Congress could not lawfully impose such a barrier on state lawmakers. Murphy v. 

NCAA, 584 U.S. 453, 458 (2018). Since then, most states have legalized sports 

gambling thorough licensing and registration regimes that generate much needed tax 

dollars for states and, typically, require bettors to be 21 years old to place sports bets. 

Indian tribes, too, have begun to offer sports gambling on their reservations in those 

states where, consistent with the IGRA, the state permits such gambling under state 

law. 

 3. In 2025, the gaming industry shifted significantly. Currently, 18 year 

old high school students across the United States²including some that are located 

on Indian reservations²are on their phones placing bets on the outcome of virtually 

every sporting event occurring across the globe, without any regulation of that 
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betting by states or Indian tribes and the protective measures related to corruption 

and problem gambling imbedded in such regulatory schemes, in contravention of 

federal, state, and tribal law. And they are placing those illegal bets using defendants 

Kalshi Inc. and KalshiEX //&�� �³.DOVKL´�, and Robinhood Markets, Inc. and 

Robinhood Derivatives LLC �³Robinhood´�� 

 4. Kalshi will claim that it is not offering sports gambling. Kalshi will tell 

the Court that it is a Designated Contract Market, regulated exclusively by the 

Commodities Futures Trading Commission �³&)7&´�, and is merely operating a 

³SUHGLFWLRQ�PDUNHW´�WKDW�SHUPLWV�WKH�EX\LQJ�DQG�VHOOLQJ�RI�³FRPPRGLWLHV�FRQWUDFWV�´ 

or swaps on sporting events. While masquerading as novel commodities and futures 

products, these event contracts are, substantively, nothing more than illegal, 

unregulated wagers on the outcomes of sporting events: 

 5. &RQWUDU\�WR�.DOVKL¶V�DVVHUWLRQV��.DOVKL is engaging in sport gambling 

as defined by the IGRA DQG� WKH�7ULEHV¶ Compacts, Procedures, and Ordinances. 

Therefore, the Tribes seek an order from the Court enjoining Kalshi from conducting 

its illegal sports gambling operation.  

 6. In addition, the Tribes seek a permanent injunction enjoining Kalshi¶V�

illegal gambling on Indian lands because such gaming is currently unregulated, 

YLRODWHV�WKH�6WDWH¶V�&RQVWLWXWLRQ�DQG�SHQDO�FRGH�SURYLVLRQV, and directly interferes 

with the ability of the Tribes to govern themselves under their own laws on their 

Reservations²land owned by the United States of America in trust for the Tribes.   

/// 
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JURISDICTION 

 7. 7KLV� &RXUW¶V� MXULVGLFWLRQ� RYHU� WKH TribeV¶ claims is based upon the 

following: 

  (a) 28 U.S.C. § 1331, in that this action arises under the Constitution 

and laws of the United States, specifically, the IGRA, 25 U.S.C. at § 

2710(d)(7)(A)(ii), the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 

U.S.C. § 1961 et seq. �³5,&2´�, the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1051 et seq., and the 

federal common law;  

  (b) 28 U.S.C. § 1362, in that the district courts have original 

jurisdiction of all civil actions brought by any Indian tribe or band with a governing 

body duly recognized by the Secretary of the Interior �³6HFUHWDU\´�, wherein the 

matter in controversy arises under the Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United 

States; 

  (c) 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii), in that this is an action initiated 

by federally recognized Indian tribes to enjoin a class III gaming activity located on 

Indian lands and conducted in violation of Tribal-State compacts and secretarial 

procedures that are in effect; 

(d) 18 U.S.C. § 1964(c), in that this is an action initiated by the 

Tribes for injuries to their business caused by defendants¶ violation of the Racketeer 

Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act  through a pattern of racketeering activity; 

and  

(e) 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B), in that this action seeks to redress 

false and misleading statements of fact made in commercial advertising or 

promotion that misrepresent the nature, characteristics, or qualities of defendant 

.DOVKL¶V�DFWLYLWLHV� 

VENUE 

 8. Venue is proper in this Court, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, in that:   

  (a) The defendants conduct business within this District;  
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  (b) A substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the 

7ULEHV¶�FODLPV�RFFXUUHG�LQ�WKLV�'LVWULFW; and 

  (c) Defendants maintain corporate offices within this District.  

PARTIES 

 9. 3ODLQWLII�%OXH�/DNH�5DQFKHULD��³%OXH�/DNH´��LV�D�IHGHUDOO\�UHFRJQL]HG�

Indian tribe, organized under the provisions of the Indian Reorganization Act, 25 

U.S.C. § 476, under a written Constitution, which has been approved by the 

Secretary and which designates the Blue Lake Business Council as the governing 

body of Blue Lake. Blue Lake is the beneficial owner of the Blue Lake Rancheria 

�³Blue Lake Reservation´���ZKLFK�FRQVLVWV�RI�DSSUR[LPDWHO\����DFUHV�RI�WUXVW�DQG�

fee lands located within the exterior boundaries of the Blue Lake Reservation in 

Humboldt County, California. Blue Lake conducts class-III gaming on its Blue Lake 

Rancheria pursuant to the IGRA, its Secretarial Procedures, and its Gaming 

Ordinance. 

 10. Plaintiff Chicken Ranch Rancheria of Me-:XN� ,QGLDQV� �³&KLFNHQ�

5DQFK´� is a federally recognized Indian tribe organized under a written 

Constitution, which designates the Chicken Ranch Tribal Council as the governing 

body of Chicken Ranch. Chicken Ranch is the beneficial owner of the Chicken 

5DQFK�5DQFKHULD�RU� UHVHUYDWLRQ� �³Chicken Ranch 5DQFKHULD´���ZKLFK� FRQVLVWV� RI�

approximately 40 acres of trust and fee lands located within the exterior boundaries 

of the Rancheria in Tuolumne County, California. Chicken Ranch conducts class-III 

gaming on its Chicken Ranch Rancheria pursuant to the IGRA, its Secretarial 

Procedures, and its Gaming Ordinance. 

 11. Plaintiff Picayune Rancheria of &KXNFKDQVL� ,QGLDQV� �³3LFD\XQH�

5DQFKHULD´�� LV� D� IHGHUDOO\� UHFRJQL]HG� ,QGLDQ� WULEH�� RUJDQL]HG� XQGHU� D� ZULWWHQ�

Constitution, which designates the Picayune Rancheria Tribal Council as the 

governing body of the Tribe. The Tribe is the beneficial owner of the Picayune 

5DQFKHULD��³Picayune 5HVHUYDWLRQ´���ZKLFK�LV�ORFDWHG�LQ�0DGHUD�&RXQW\��&DOLIRUQLD� 
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Picayune conducts class-III gaming on its Picayune Reservation pursuant to the 

IGRA, its Compact, and its Gaming Ordinance.  

12. Defendant Kalshi Inc. is a Delaware corporation headquartered at 594 

Broadway, Rm 407, New York City, New York 10012. Plaintiffs are informed and 

believe, and on that basis allege, that Defendant Kalshi Inc. is the parent company 

of all other Kalshi entities. 

 13. Defendant KalshiEX LLC is a Delaware corporation headquartered at 

594 Broadway Rm 407, New York City, New York 10012. Plaintiffs are informed 

and believe, and on that basis allege, that Defendant KalshiEX LLC is a wholly 

owned subsidiary of Kalshi Inc. that operates as a commodities exchange. 

 14. Defendant Robinhood Markets, Inc. is a Delaware corporation 

headquartered at 85 Willow Road, Menlo Park, California 94025. Plaintiffs are 

informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that Defendant Robinhood Markets, 

Inc. is the parent company of all other Robinhood entities. Robinhood is an 

investment platform that permits trading on stocks, Exchanged Traded Funds 

�µETFs´�, and other commodities. As relevant here, Robinhood has partnered with 

Kalshi to open²on the Robinhood investment platform²a prediction market hub, 

allowing SHUVRQV�ORFDWHG�ERWK�RQ�DQG�RII�WKH�7ULEHV¶�respective Reservations to place 

illegal, unregulated sports book wagers on the outcome of sporting events, in the 

form of ³event contracts.´ 

 15. Defendant Robinhood Derivatives LLC is a Delaware corporation 

headquartered at 85 Willow Road, Menlo Park, California 94025. Plaintiffs are 

informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that Defendant Robinhood 

Derivatives LLC is a wholly owned subsidiary of Robinhood Markets, Inc. It is a 

futures commission merchant and provides options on futures trading. As relevant 

here, it is the division of Robinhood that has partnered with Kalshi to offer a 

prediction market hub that allows persons to engage in illegal sports gambling by 

placing illegal, unregulated wagers on the outcome of sporting events in the form of 
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event contracts RQ�WKH�7ULEHV¶�Reservations. 

 16. The above-named Defendants are collectively referred to as 

³'HIHQGDQWV�´�7KH�WUXH�QDPHV�DQG�FDSDFLWLHV�RI�WKH�'HIHQGDQWV�VXHG�KHUHLQ�DV�'2(�

DEFENDANTS 1 through 20, inclusive, are currently unknown to Plaintiffs, who 

therefore sue such Defendants by fictitious names. Each of the Defendants 

designated herein as a DOE is legally responsible for the unlawful acts alleged 

herein. Plaintiffs will seek leave of Court to amend the Complaint to reflect the true 

names and capacities of the DOE Defendants when such identities become known. 
  

GAMING ON INDIAN LANDS PURSUANT TO THE INDIAN GAMING 
REGULATORY ACT 

 17. &RXUWV�KDYH�ORQJ�UHFRJQL]HG�WKDW�&RQJUHVV�KDV�³H[FOXVLYH�DXWKRULW\´�

RYHU�,QGLDQ�DIIDLUV��0LFKLJDQ�Y��%D\�0LOOV�,QGLDQ�&RPPXQLW\������8�6��������������

��������7KLV�H[FOXVLYH�DXWKRULW\�LV�URRWHG�LQ�WKH�,QGLDQ�&RPPHUFH�&ODXVH��DUW��,����

���FO�����DQG�WKH�6XSUHPDF\�&ODXVH��DUW��9,��FO�����RI�WKH�&RQVWLWXWLRQ��ZKLFK�JLYHV�

&RQJUHVV�³WKH�H[FOXVLYH�DQG�DEVROXWH�SRZHU�WR�UHJXODWH�FRPPHUFH ZLWK�WKH�,QGLDQ�

WULEHV��²�D�SRZHU�DV�EURDG�DQG�DV�IUHH�IURP�UHVWULFWLRQV�DV�WKDW�WR�UHJXODWH�FRPPHUFH�

ZLWK�IRUHLJQ�QDWLRQV�´�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�Y��)RUW\�7KUHH�*DOORQV�RI�:KLVNH\� ���8�6�������

������������:RUFHVWHU�Y��*HRUJLD����8�6������������������±�����������6HPLQROH�

7ULEH�Y��)OD�������8�6���������������� 

18. 7KH� ,QGLDQ� &RPPHUFH� &ODXVH� DXWKRUL]HV� &RQJUHVV� ³>W@R� UHJXODWH�

&RPPHUFH�������ZLWK�WKH�,QGLDQ�7ULEHV�´�$UW��,������FO�����7KH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�6XSUHPH�

&RXUW� KDV� LQWHUSUHWHG� WKH� ,QGLDQ� &RPPHUFH� &ODXVH� WR� UHDFK� QRW� RQO\� WUDGH�� EXW�

FHUWDLQ�³,QGLDQ�DIIDLUV�´�DV�ZHOO��&RWWRQ�3HWUROHXP�&RUS��Y��1HZ�0H[LFR������8��6��

����������������� 

19.  7KH� 6XSUHPH� &RXUW� GRHV� QRW� WUHDW� WKH� ,QGLDQ� &RPPHUFH� &ODXVH� DV�

LQWHUFKDQJHDEOH� ZLWK� WKH� ,QWHUVWDWH� &RPPHUFH� &ODXVH�� ,G�� 8QOLNH� WKH� ,QWHUVWDWH�

&RPPHUFH�&ODXVH��ZKHUH�6WDWHV� UHWDLQ�³VRPH�DXWKRULW\´�RYHU� WUDGH�� WKH�6XSUHPH�

&RXUW�KDV�UXOHG�WKDW�³YLUWXDOO\�DOO�DXWKRULW\�RYHU�,QGLDQ�FRPPHUFH�DQG�,QGLDQ�WULEHV´�

Case 1:25-cv-06162     Document 1     Filed 07/22/25     Page 7 of 71



 

8 
COMPLAINT  

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
 

OLHV�ZLWK�WKH�)HGHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW��6HPLQROH�7ULEH�RI�)OD�������8��6��DW���� 

20.  From this exclusive authority the Supreme Court has held that there 

arises and H[LVWV�D�WUXVW�UHODWLRQVKLS�EHWZHHQ�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�DQG�WKH�,QGLDQ�WULEHV�

WKDW� LQIRUPV�DQG�UHVWUDLQV� WKH�&RQJUHVVLRQDO�H[HUFLVH�RI�OHJLVODWLYH�SRZHU��8QLWHG�

6WDWHV�Y��0LWFKHOO������8��6������������������������3XUVXDQW�WR�WKLV�WUXVW�UHODWLRQVKLS��

WKH�)HGHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW�KDV�³µFKDUJHG�LWVHOI�ZLWK�PRUDO�REOLJDWLRQV�RI�WKH�KLJKHVW�

UHVSRQVLELOLW\� DQG� WUXVW¶´� WRZDUG� ,QGLDQ� WULEHV��8QLWHG� 6WDWHV� Y�� -LFDULOOD�$SDFKH�

1DWLRQ������8�6�������������������TXRWLQJ�6HPLQROH�1DWLRQ�Y��8QLWHG�6WDWHV������

8�6����������������������� 

 21.  %DVHG�XSRQ�WKH�WUXVW�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�RZHG�WR�WULEHV�E\�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV��

FRXUWV�SUHVXPH�WKDW�ZKHQ�&RQJUHVV�OHJLVODWHV�RQ�,QGLDQ�DIIDLUV��LWV�LQWHQW�WRZDUGV�WKH�

WULEHV� LV� EHQHYROHQW� DQG� IHGHUDO� VWDWXWHV� WKDW� DUJXDEO\�ZRXOG� DEURJDWH� RU� DEULGJH�

WULEDO�ULJKWV�WR�VHOI�JRYHUQPHQW�DUH�QDUURZO\�FRQVWUXHG�LQ�IDYRU�RI�WKH�WULEHV�UHWDLQLQJ�

WKHP��0RQWDQD�Y��%ODFNIHHW�7ULEH������8�6������������������� 

22.  )RU�WKLV�UHDVRQ��WKH�6XSUHPH�&RXUW�KDV�DGKHUHG�WR�³WKH�JHQHUDO�UXOHV�

WKDW� VWDWXWHV� SDVVHG� IRU� WKH� EHQHILW� RI� WKH� GHSHQGHQW� ,QGLDQ� WULEHV� �� �� �� DUH� WR� EH�

OLEHUDOO\�FRQVWUXHG��GRXEWIXO�H[SUHVVLRQV�EHLQJ�UHVROYHG�LQ�IDYRU�RI�WKH�,QGLDQV�´�,G� 

��� $SSO\LQJ�WKHVH�FDQRQV�RI�VWDWXWRU\�FRQVWUXFWLRQ��WKH�6XSUHPH�&RXUW�LQ�

&DOLIRUQLD�Y��&DED]RQ�%DQG�RI�,QGLDQV������8�6��������������³&DED]RQ´���KHOG�WKDW�

&DOLIRUQLD�KDG�QR�DXWKRULW\�WR�HQIRUFH�LWV�JDPEOLQJ�ODZV�DJDLQVW�,QGLDQ�WULEHV�RQ�WKHLU�

,QGLDQ�ODQGV��&DED]RQ������8�6��DW��������� 

24.  ,Q� UHVSRQVH� WR� WKH� &DED]RQ� GHFLVLRQ�� &RQJUHVV� HQDFWHG� WKH� ,QGLDQ�

*DPLQJ�5HJXODWRU\�$FW�����8�6�&����������������WR�FUHDWH�D�IUDPHZRUN�IRU�,QGLDQ�

WULEHV�� VWDWHV�� DQG� WKH� IHGHUDO� JRYHUQPHQW� WR� H[FOXVLYHO\� DQG� FRPSUHKHQVLYHO\�

UHJXODWH�WULEDO�JDPLQJ�RQ�³,QGLDQ�ODQGV�´� 

 25.  The purpose of IGRA, set forth in 25 U.S.C. § 2702, is: 
 
��� WR�SURYLGH�D�VWDWXWRU\�EDVLV�IRU�WKH�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�JDPLQJ�E\�,QGLDQ�
WULEHV� DV� D� PHDQV� RI� SURPRWLQJ� WULEDO� HFRQRPLF� GHYHORSPHQW�� VHOI�
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VXIILFLHQF\��DQG�VWURQJ�WULEDO�JRYHUQPHQWV� 
 
��� WR�SURYLGH�D�VWDWXWRU\�EDVLV�IRU�WKH�UHJXODWLRQ�RI�JDPLQJ�E\�DQ�
,QGLDQ� WULEH� DGHTXDWH� WR� VKLHOG� LW� IURP� RUJDQL]HG� FULPH� DQG� RWKHU�
FRUUXSWLQJ� LQIOXHQFHV�� WR� HQVXUH� WKDW� WKH� ,QGLDQ� WULEH� LV� WKH� SULPDU\�
EHQHILFLDU\� RI� WKH� JDPLQJ� RSHUDWLRQ�� DQG� WR� DVVXUH� WKDW� JDPLQJ� LV�
FRQGXFWHG�IDLUO\�DQG�KRQHVWO\�E\�ERWK�WKH�RSHUDWRU�DQG�SOD\HUV��DQG 
 
��� WR� GHFODUH� WKDW� WKH� HVWDEOLVKPHQW� RI� LQGHSHQGHQW� )HGHUDO�
UHJXODWRU\�DXWKRULW\�IRU�JDPLQJ�RQ�,QGLDQ�ODQGV��WKH�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�RI�
)HGHUDO�VWDQGDUGV�IRU�JDPLQJ�RQ�,QGLDQ�ODQGV��DQG�WKH�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�RI�
D� 1DWLRQDO� ,QGLDQ� *DPLQJ� &RPPLVVLRQ� DUH� QHFHVVDU\� WR� PHHW�
FRQJUHVVLRQDO�FRQFHUQV�UHJDUGLQJ�JDPLQJ�DQG�WR�SURWHFW�VXFK�JDPLQJ�
DV�D�PHDQV�RI�JHQHUDWLQJ�WULEDO�UHYHQXH� 
26. Under the IGRA, if the gaming activity is not specifically prohibited by 

Federal law and is conducted within a state which does not, as a matter of criminal 

law and public policy, prohibit such gaming activity: (1) Indian tribes and the 

National Indian Gaming Commission �³1,*&´��have the exclusive right to regulate 

class II gaming on Indian lands; and (2) the Indian tribes and the states, pursuant to 

a compact, have the exclusive right to regulate class III gaming on Indian lands. 25 

U.S.C. § 2701(5) (emphasis added).  

27.  ,*5$� GHILQHV� ³,QGLDQ� ODQGV´� DV� ³DOO� ODQGV� ZLWKLQ� WKH� OLPLWV� RI� DQ\�

,QGLDQ�UHVHUYDWLRQ´��DQG�³DQ\�ODQGV�WLWOH�WR�ZKLFK�LV�HLWKHU�KHOG�LQ�WUXVW�E\�WKH�8QLWHG�

6WDWHV�IRU�WKH�EHQHILW�RI�DQ\ ,QGLDQ�WULEH RU�LQGLYLGXDO�,QGLDQ�RU�KHOG�E\�DQ\ ,QGLDQ�

WULEH RU�LQGLYLGXDO�VXEMHFW�WR�D�UHVWULFWLRQ�E\�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�DJDLQVW�DOLHQDWLRQ�DQG�

RYHU� ZKLFK� DQ ,QGLDQ� WULEH H[HUFLVHV� JRYHUQPHQWDO� SRZHU�´� ��� 8�6�&�� ���

��������$���%�� 

��� ,*5$�HVWDEOLVKHG�D� VWDWXWRU\� IUDPHZRUN� IRU� WKH� UHJXODWLRQ�RI� ,QGLDQ�

JDPLQJ��ZKLFK�³H[SUHVVO\�SUH�HPSWV�WKH�ILHOG�RI�JRYHUQDQFH�RI�JDPLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV�RQ�

,QGLDQ�ODQGV�´�3XHEOR�RI�6DQWD�$QD�Y��.HOO\������)��6XSS��������������'�1�0��������

�TXRWLQJ�6��5(3��1R����������DW�����*DPLQJ�&RUSRUDWLRQ�Y��'RUVH\�	�:KLWQH\�����

)���G�������WK�&LU�������� 
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 29.  ,*5$� GLYLGHV� ,QGLDQ� JDPLQJ� LQWR� WKUHH� FODVVHV�� ZLWK� GLIIHUHQW�

UHJXODWRU\�UHTXLUHPHQWV�IRU�HDFK�FODVV��&ODVV�,�JDPLQJ�FRQVLVWV�RI�WUDGLWLRQDO�WULEDO�

JDPHV�IRU�SUL]HV�RI�PLQLPDO�YDOXH�FRQQHFWHG�ZLWK�WULEDO�FHUHPRQLHV�RU�FHOHEUDWLRQV��

���8�6�&�������������&ODVV�,�JDPLQJ�LV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�H[FOXVLYH�UHJXODWRU\�MXULVGLFWLRQ�

RI�WKH�WULEHV��&ODVV�,,�JDPLQJ�FRQVLVWV�RI�ELQJR��³ZKHWKHU�RU�QRW�HOHFWURQLF��FRPSXWHU��

RU�RWKHU�WHFKQRORJLFDO�DLGV�DUH�XVHG�LQ�FRQQHFWLRQ�WKHUHZLWK�´�LQFOXGLQJ�³SXOO�WDEV��

ORWWR��SXQFK�ERDUGV�� WLS� MDUV�� LQVWDQW�ELQJR��DQG�RWKHU�JDPHV�VLPLODU� WR�ELQJR�´����

8�6�&������������$��L���$OVR�LQFOXGHG�LQ�FODVV�,,�JDPLQJ�DUH�QRQ�EDQNHG�FDUG�JDPHV�

HLWKHU�H[SOLFLWO\�DXWKRUL]HG�E\�VWDWH�ODZ�RU�QRW�SURKLELWHG�E\�VWDWH�ODZ�DQG�SOD\HG�LQ�

FRQIRUPLW\�ZLWK�VWDWH�UHJXODWLRQV�UHJDUGLQJ�KRXUV�RI�SOD\�DQG�OLPLWV�RQ�ZDJHUV�DQG�

SRW�VL]HV�����8�6�&������������$��L���LL��DQG�����%���&ODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�LV�GHILQHG�DV�

³DOO�IRUPV�RI�JDPLQJ�WKDW�DUH�QRW�FODVV�,�JDPLQJ�RU�FODVV�,,�JDPLQJ�´����8�6�&����

���������ZKLFK�LQFOXGHV�VSRUWV�JDPEOLQJ�� 

 30.  &ODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�FDQ�EH�WKH�PRVW�OXFUDWLYH�IRUP�RI�JDPLQJ��,W�LQFOXGHV�

WKH�JDPHV�SOD\HG� LQ� D� W\SLFDO� FDVLQR� LQ�/DV�9HJDV�� VXFK�DV� VORW�PDFKLQHV�� FUDSV��

URXOHWWH��DQG�KRXVH�EDQNHG�DQG�SHUFHQWDJH�FDUG�JDPHV��OLNH�EODFNMDFN������ 

 31.  7KH�IHGHUDO�UHJXODWLRQV�DGRSWHG�E\�WKH�1,*&��ZKLFK�LPSOHPHQW�,*5$��

VSHFLILFDOO\�VWDWH�WKDW�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�LQFOXGHV�³>D@Q\�VSRUWV�EHWWLQJ�DQG�SDUL�PXWXHO�

ZDJHULQJ�LQFOXGLQJ�EXW�QRW�OLPLWHG�WR�ZDJHULQJ�RQ�KRUVH�UDFLQJ��GRJ�UDFLQJ�RU�MDL�

DODL�´�����&�)�5�����������F�� 

32.  :KLOH�IHGHUDO�UHJXODWLRQV�GHILQH�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�DV�LQFOXGLQJ�DOO�KRXVH�

EDQNHG� JDPHV�� ���&�)�5�� �� ������ �D��� WKH� UHJXODWLRQV� VHSDUDWHO\� VWDWH� WKDW� VSRUWV�

EHWWLQJ�FRQVWLWXWHV� FODVV� ,,,� JDPLQJ�ZLWKRXW� UHIHUHQFH� WR�ZKHWKHU� WKH�ZDJHULQJ� LV�

KRXVH�EDQNHG�����&�)�5�����������F��� 

33.  7KXV��VSRUWV�EHWWLQJ�FRQVWLWXWHV�D�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�DFWLYLW\�UHJDUGOHVV�RI�

ZKHWKHU�WKH�ZDJHU�LV�PDGH�DJDLQVW�WKH�KRXVH�RU�DJDLQVW�RWKHU�EHWWRUV� 

34.  8QGHU�,*5$��LQ�RUGHU�IRU�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�WR�EH�FRQGXFWHG�RQ�,QGLDQ�

ODQGV������WKH�WULEH�PXVW�KDYH�DGRSWHG�D�WULEDO�RUGLQDQFH�WKDW�DXWKRUL]HV�WKH�SOD\LQJ�
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RI�WKH�FODVV�,,,�JDPHV�DQG�WKH�RUGLQDQFH�PXVW�KDYH�EHHQ�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�&KDLUPDQ�

RI�WKH�1,*&��WKH�IHGHUDO�UHJXODWRU\�DJHQF\�FUHDWHG�XQGHU�,*5$������� WKH�VWDWH�LQ�

ZKLFK�WKH�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�ZLOO�EH�FRQGXFWHG�PXVW�³SHUPLW´�VXFK�JDPLQJ�IRU�DQ\�

SXUSRVH�E\�DQ\�SHUVRQ��RUJDQL]DWLRQ��RU�HQWLW\��DQG�����WKH�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�PXVW�EH�

FRQGXFWHG�LQ�FRQIRUPDQFH�ZLWK�D�7ULEDO�6WDWH�FRPSDFW�HQWHUHG�LQWR�E\�WKH�,QGLDQ�

WULEH�DQG�WKH�VWDWH��SXUVXDQW�WR�,*5$�����8�6�&���������G����� 

 35.  ,Q�RUGHU�WR�JR�LQWR�HIIHFW��D�WULEDO�VWDWH�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�FRPSDFW�PXVW�

EH�DSSURYHG�E\�WKH�6HFUHWDU\�����8�6�&���������G�����$���RU�GHHPHG�DSSURYHG�E\�

RSHUDWLRQ� RI� ODZ�� ��� 8�6�&�� �� �����G�����&��� DQG� QRWLFH� RI� DSSURYDO� PXVW� EH�

SXEOLVKHG�LQ�WKH�)HGHUDO�5HJLVWHU�����8�6�&���������G�����%�� 

 36.  *DPLQJ�FRQGXFWHG�E\�DQ\�SHUVRQ�RU�HQWLW\�RQ�,QGLDQ�ODQGV�WKDW�LV�QRW�

DXWKRUL]HG�E\�D�WULEDO�VWDWH�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�FRPSDFW�YLRODWHV�,*5$�DQG�IHGHUDO�DQG�

VWDWH�FULPLQDO�ODZ��6HH����8�6�&���������DSSO\LQJ�³DOO�6WDWH�ODZV�SHUWDLQLQJ�WR�WKH�

OLFHQVLQJ�� UHJXODWLRQ�� RU� SURKLELWLRQ� RI� JDPEOLQJ�� LQFOXGLQJ� EXW� QRW� OLPLWHG� WR�

FULPLQDO�VDQFWLRQV´�WR�,QGLDQ�FRXQWU\���6HH�DOVR�&RHXU�'¶$OHQH�7ULEH�Y��6WDWH������

)�� 6XSS�� ������ ����� �'�� ,GDKR� ������³$FFRUGLQJO\�� WKH� FRXUW� ILQGV� WKDW� LQ� WKH�

DEVHQFH�RI�D�WULEDO�JDPLQJ�RUGLQDQFH�DQG�D�FRPSDFW��QHLWKHU�WKH�7ULEH�QRU�DQ\�QRQ�

WULEDO�HQWLW\�«�PD\�FRQGXFW�&ODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�RQ�WKH�UHVHUYDWLRQ�´�� 

 ��� $Q\�FODVV�,,�RU�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�FRQGXFWHG�E\�D�WKLUG�SDUW\�PDQDJHPHQW�

FRPSDQ\�RQ�,QGLDQ�ODQGV�RQ�EHKDOI�RI�D�WULEH�ZLWK�D�FRPSDFW�PXVW�PHHW�WKH�VWULFW�

UHTXLUHPHQWV�RI�,*5$�����8�6�&���������G�����DQG����8�6�&����������LQ�RUGHU�WR�

FRQGXFW� WKDW�JDPLQJ��)XUWKHU�� DQ\�FRQWUDFW� DXWKRUL]LQJ�D� WKLUG�SDUW\�PDQDJHPHQW�

FRPSDQ\�WR�FRQGXFW�JDPLQJ�RQ�,QGLDQ�ODQGV�RQ�EHKDOI�RI�D�WULEH�PXVW�EH�DSSURYHG�

E\�WKH�&KDLUPDQ�RI�WKH�1,*&��,G��6HH�DOVR����&�)�5�������� 

 38.  ,*5$�SURYLGHV� WULEHV� DQ�HQIRUFHPHQW�PHFKDQLVP� WR�SUHYHQW�JDPLQJ�

IURP�EHLQJ�FRQGXFWHG�RQ�,QGLDQ�ODQGV�WKDW�LV�QRW�DXWKRUL]HG�E\�D�WULEDO�VWDWH�FRPSDFW��

³7KH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�GLVWULFW�FRXUWV�VKDOO�KDYH�MXULVGLFWLRQ�RYHU�������DQ\�FDXVH�RI�DFWLRQ�

LQLWLDWHG�E\�D�6WDWH�RU�,QGLDQ�WULEH�WR�HQMRLQ�D�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�DFWLYLW\�ORFDWHG�RQ�
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,QGLDQ� ODQGV�DQG�FRQGXFWHG� LQ�YLRODWLRQ�RI� DQ\�7ULEDO�6WDWH�FRPSDFW�HQWHUHG� LQWR�

XQGHU�>,*5$@�WKDW�LV�LQ�HIIHFW��������´����8�6�&���������G�����$��LL��� 

 7+(�75,%(6¶�&2035(+(16,9(�5(*8/$7,21�2)�*$0,1* 

 $. The Tribes¶ Regulation of Gaming Under Their Compacts. 

��� (DFK�RI�WKH�SODLQWLII�7ULEHV�FRQGXFWV�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�RQ�WKHLU�UHVSHFWLYH�

5HVHUYDWLRQV��7KH�%OXH�/DNH�5DQFKHULD�DQG�&KLFNHQ�5DQFK�5DQFKHULD�FRQGXFW�WKHLU�

JDPLQJ�SXUVXDQW�WR�6HFUHWDULDO�3URFHGXUHV�LVVXHG�E\�WKH�'HSDUWPHQW�RI�WKH�,QWHULRU�

RQ� -DQXDU\�����������7KH�3LFD\XQH�5DQFKHULD�FRQGXFWV� LWV�JDPLQJ�SXUVXDQW� WR�D�

FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�FRPSDFW��3LFD\XQH�HQWHUHG�LQWR�LWV�&RPSDFW�ZLWK�WKH�6WDWH�LQ�������

ZKLFK�KDV�EHHQ�VXEVHTXHQWO\�H[WHQGHG�IRXU�WLPHV� 

 ��� 7KH�3URFHGXUHV�DQG�&RPSDFWV�DIIRUG�WKH�7ULEHV�SULPDU\�UHVSRQVLELOLW\�

IRU�WKH�UHJXODWLRQ�RI�WKHLU�JDPLQJ�IDFLOLWLHV�DQG�DFWLYLWLHV�WR�HQVXUH�WKH�IDLUQHVV�RI�WKH�

SOD\LQJ�RI�WKH�FODVV�,,,�JDPHV��WR�VKLHOG�WKH�JDPHV�IURP�FULPLQDO�DFWLYLW\��WR�HQVXUH�

WKDW�WKH�7ULEHV�DUH�WKH�SULPDU\�EHQHILFLDULHV�RI�WKH�JDPLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV��DQG�WR�SURPRWH�

WULEDO�HFRQRPLF�GHYHORSPHQW�DQG�VHOI�VXIILFLHQF\��7R�DFKLHYH�WKHVH�REMHFWLYHV��WKH�

3URFHGXUHV� DQG�&RPSDFWV� SURPRWH� HWKLFDO� SUDFWLFHV� LQ� FRQMXQFWLRQ�ZLWK� FODVV� ,,,�

JDPLQJ� WKURXJK� WKH� OLFHQVLQJ�DQG�FRQWURO�RI�SHUVRQV�DQG�HQWLWLHV�HPSOR\HG� LQ��RU�

SURYLGLQJ�JRRGV�DQG�VHUYLFHV� WR�� WKH� WULEDO�JDPLQJ�RSHUDWLRQV��SURWHFW�DJDLQVW� WKH�

SUHVHQFH� RU� SDUWLFLSDWLRQ� RI� SHUVRQV� ZKRVH� FULPLQDO� EDFNJURXQGV�� UHSXWDWLRQV��

FKDUDFWHU��RU�DVVRFLDWLRQV�PDNH�WKHP�XQVXLWDEOH�IRU�SDUWLFLSDWLRQ�LQ�JDPLQJ��WKHUHE\�

PDLQWDLQLQJ�D�KLJK�OHYHO�RI�LQWHJULW\�LQ�WULEDO�JRYHUQPHQWDO�JDPLQJ��DQG�SURWHFW�WKH�

SDWURQV�DQG�HPSOR\HHV�RI�WKHLU�JDPLQJ�IDFLOLWLHV� 

 ��� 7KH�3URFHGXUHV� DQG�&RPSDFWV� WKXV� UHJXODWH� FODVV� ,,,� JDPLQJ�RQ� WKH�

7ULEHV¶�5HVHUYDWLRQV�WR�HQVXUH�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�,*5$��WULEDO�*DPLQJ�2UGLQDQFHV��

DQG� WKH� 1,*&� DQG� 7ULEDO� *DPLQJ� &RPPLVVLRQV¶� PLQLPXP� LQWHUQDO� FRQWURO�

VWDQGDUGV��7KURXJK� WKDW� UHJXODWHG� FODVV� ,,,� JDPLQJ�� WKH� SURFHGXUHV� DQG� FRPSDFW�

HQDEOH�WKH�7ULEHV�WR�GHYHORS�VHOI�VXIILFLHQF\��SURPRWH�WULEDO�HFRQRPLF�GHYHORSPHQW��

DQG�FUHDWH�MREV�DQG�JHQHUDWH�UHYHQXHV�WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�7ULEHV¶�JRYHUQPHQWV�DQG�WKHLU�
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JRYHUQPHQWDO� VHUYLFHV� DQG�SURJUDPV��5HOHYDQW� WR� WKH�7ULEHV�� WULEDO�JRYHUQPHQWDO�

JDPLQJ�LV�WKH�SULPDU\�VRXUFH�RI�UHYHQXH�IXQGLQJ�WKH�7ULEHV¶�JRYHUQPHQWV�DQG�WKHLU�

JRYHUQPHQWDO�VHUYLFHV�DQG�SURJUDPV� 

 ��� 8QGHU� WKHLU� 3URFHGXUHV� DQG� &RPSDFWV�� WKH� 7ULEHV� DUH� DXWKRUL]HG� WR�

RSHUDWH�VORW�PDFKLQHV��ORWWHU\�JDPHV��DQG�EDQNHG�DQG�SHUFHQWDJH�FDUG�JDPHV�DW�WKHLU�

FDVLQRV�� +RZHYHU�� EHFDXVH� &DOLIRUQLD� KDV� QRW� VSHFLILFDOO\� DXWKRUL]HG� DQG�

DIILUPDWLYHO\�SURKLELWV�EHWWLQJ�RQ�WKH�RXWFRPH�RI�VSRUWLQJ�HYHQWV��RWKHU�WKDQ�SDUL�

PXWXHO�ZDJHULQJ�RQ�KRUVH�UDFLQJ��WKH�6WDWH�FRQVLVWHQWO\�KDV�UHIXVHG�WR�QHJRWLDWH�WKH�

LQFOXVLRQ�RI�VSRUWV�EHWWLQJ�LQ�7ULEDO�6WDWH�FRPSDFWV�DQG��DV�D�UHVXOW��QR�,QGLDQ�WULEH�

LQ�&DOLIRUQLD��LQFOXGLQJ�WKH�3ODLQWLII�7ULEHV��RIIHU�VSRUWV�EHWWLQJ�RQ�WKHLU�,QGLDQ�ODQGV��

DQG�EHWWLQJ�RQ�WKH�RXWFRPH�RI�VSRUWLQJ�HYHQWV�ZRXOG�FRQVWLWXWH�D�YLRODWLRQ�RI�WKH�

7ULEHV¶�&RPSDFWV�DQG�3URFHGXUHV� 

 ��� %\� PDNLQJ� LWV� VSRUWV� ZDJHULQJ� FRQWUDFWV� DYDLODEOH� RQ� WKH� 7ULEHV¶�

5HVHUYDWLRQV��DQG�RIIHULQJ�IRU�SOD\�WR�WKH�JHQHUDO�SXEOLF�WKH�FODVV�,,,�JDPH�RI�VSRUWV�

EHWWLQJ��.DOVKL�YLRODWHV�WKH�7ULEHV¶�&RPSDFWV�DQG�3URFHGXUHV��*DPLQJ�2UGLQDQFHV��

DQG�*DPLQJ�&RPPLVVLRQV�UHJXODWLRQV��DQG�GLUHFWO\�LQWHUIHUHV�ZLWK�DQG�LPSDLUV�WKH�

7ULEHV¶�VRYHUHLJQ�ULJKW�WR�UHJXODWH�JDPLQJ�RQ�WKHLU�5HVHUYDWLRQV� 
%. The Tribes Regulation Of Gaming Under their Gaming 

Ordinances. 

 44. Pursuant to the IGRA and the Tribes¶ own inherent sovereign authority, 

each of the Tribes have enacted gaming Ordinances, that have been approved by the 

Secretary, comprehensively regulating gaming activities on the Tribes¶ 

Reservations.  

 45. Each OUGLQDQFH� HVWDEOLVKHV� D� 7ULEDO� *DPLQJ� &RPPLVVLRQ� �³7*&´��

with the authority to adopt and enforce regulations that establish comprehensive 

minimum internal control standards for the playing of all games conducted on the 

Reservations, including but not limited to the rules for the playing of the games and 

approval and testing of the equipment used in the playing of the games. 
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 46. In addition, each Ordinance requires every person, organization, and 

entity  involved in gaming activities on the Reservation to go through detailed 

criminal history and background check and obtain gaming licenses issued by the 

TGC verifying that the licensee is not involved in or associated with any criminal 

activity. 

 47. Finally, each OUGLQDQFH�DQG�WKH�7ULEHV¶�7*& regulations specify what 

JDPHV�FDQ�EH�SOD\HG�RQ�WKH�7ULEHV¶�5HVHUYDWLRQV�DQG�SURKLELW� WKH�SOD\LQJ�RI�DQ\�

class III game, including sports gambling, that is not expressly authorized by the 

Tribes¶ Compacts, Procedures, or Ordinances. 

.$/6+,¶6�,//(*$/�632576�*$0%/,1*�21�7+(�75,%(6¶ 

RESERVATIONS 

 48. Kalshi is engaging in illegal sports JDPEOLQJ� RQ� WKH� 7ULEHV¶�

Reservations disguised as event contracts that allow people to speculate on the 

outcome of a sporting event. Event contracts usually pose a binary, yes-or-no 

question as to whether the underlying event will happen. Events contracts are 

JRYHUQHG�E\�WKH�&RPPRGLWLHV�([FKDQJH�$FW����8�6�&�����HW��VHT���³&($´�. 

 49. Under the CEA, event contracts are a subset of futures contracts, which 

are derivatives contracts for the sale and purchase of a specified asset or basket of 

assets, including event contracts, at a specified price on a specified future date.  

 50. A derivative is a financial instrument or contract whose price is directly 

dependent upon (i.e., derived from) the value of one or more underlying assets ² 

for example, commodities (like corn and wheat), securities, or debt instruments. 

Derivatives take many forms, including futures, options, and swaps. Derivatives 

allow the purchaser to take on exposure to an underlying asset without actually 

requiring a direct investment in the asset. 

 51. Simply put, futures contracts are agreements to buy or sell a specific 

commodity or asset at a predetermined price at a predetermined date. U.S. law 

GHILQHV� ³FRPPRGLW\´� EURDGO\� WR� LQFOXGH� SK\VLFDO� JRRGV� �DJULFXOWXUDO� SURGXFWV��
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metals, energy, etc.) as well as broad categories of intangibles (services, rights, and 

interests in which futures contracts are traded). 7 U.S.C. § 1a(9). 

 52. In 2000, Congress passed the Commodity Futures Modernization Act 

�³&)0$´��� ZKLFK� amended the CEA and introduced new legal categories of 

commodities: excluded commodities and exempt commodities�� $Q� ³H[FOXGHG�

FRPPRGLW\´� ZDV� GHILQHG� WR� LQFOXGH� YDULRXV� ILQDQFLDO� LQGLFHV� DQG�� LPSRUWDQWO\��

occurrences or contingencies beyond the control of the contracting parties that are 

associated with financial or economic consequences. 7 U.S.C. §§ 1a(19)±(20) 

 53. In effect, 7 U.S.C. § 1a(19) brought certain event-based phenomena, 

such as weather events or other contingencies, into the fold of regulated derivatives, 

classifying them as commodities on which futures or swaps could be based. 

 54. In 2010, Congress enacted the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and 

Consumer Protection Act of 2010. Dodd-Frank § 745(b) expanded the CEA to add 

6HFWLRQ� �F�F�����&��� VRPHWLPHV� FDOOHG� WKH� ³VSHFLDO� UXOH� IRU� HYHQW� FRQWUDFWV�´� See 

Brian Quintenz, Any Given Sunday, Statement of Commissioner Brian D. Quintenz 

on ErisX RSBIX NFL Contracts and Certain Event Contracts (March 25, 2021) 

�³4XLQWHQ]�6WDWHPHQW´��1 

 55. This provision expressly empowered the CFTC, an independent federal 

agency created by Congress in 1974 under the ³The Commodity Futures Trading 

Commission Act´, 7 U.S.C. § 4, to regulate financial derivative markets in 

accordance with the CEA, 7 U.S.C. § 1 et seq.; 17 C.F.R. § 1 et seq., and authorized 

the CFTC WR�SURKLELW�FHUWDLQ�W\SHV�RI�GHULYDWLYHV�FRQWUDFWV�LI�LW�ILQGV�WKHP�³FRQWUDU\�

WR�WKH�SXEOLF�LQWHUHVW�´�VSHFLILFDOO\�QDPLQJ�certain specific categories. See 7 U.S.C. 

§ 7a-2(c)(5)(C). 

 56. Pursuant to this authority, in 2011, the CFTC promulgated Regulation 

17 C.F.R. § 40.11, titled ³5HYLHZ�RI�HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV�EDVHG�XSRQ�FHUWDLQ�H[FOXGHG�

commodities�´�ZKLFK�IRUPDOL]HG�WKH�UHYLHZ�SURFHVV�IRU�HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV��5HJXODWLRQ�
 

1 https://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/quintenzstatement032521 
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40.11 mirrored the substance of the statutory language and set out the procedure for 

the Commission to block an event contract. Subsection (a)(1) of Regulation 40.11 

HVWDEOLVKHV�D�FOHDU�SURKLELWLRQ��³A registered entity shall not list for trading or accept 

for clearing´�DQ\�FRQWUDFW�³EDVHG�XSRQ�DQ�H[FOXGHG�FRPPRGLW\��DV�GHILQHG�LQ�>WKH�

CEA], that involves, relates to, or references terrorism, assassination, war, gaming, 

RU�DQ�DFWLYLW\�WKDW�LV�XQODZIXO�XQGHU�DQ\�6WDWH�RU�)HGHUDO�ODZ�´�Id. (emphasis added). 

Any event contract that falls into one of those sensitive categories is thus per se 

barred from being listed by a registered entity.  

 57. Consistent with the findings and purpose of the CEA, the CFTC 

promulgated regulations that allow registered entities to self-certify event contracts 

through 17 C.F.R. § 40.2 and where self-certified products or contracts present 

compliance issues, the self-FHUWLI\LQJ� UHJLVWHUHG� HQWLW\� PXVW� SURYLGH� D� ³FRQFLVH�

H[SODQDWLRQ�DQG�DQDO\VLV�WKDW�LV�FRPSOHWH´�FRQFHUQLQJ�³WKH�XQGHUO\LQJ�FRPPRGLW\��

DQG�WKH�>FRQWUDFW¶V@�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�DSSOLFDEOH�SURYLVLRQV�RI�WKH�>&($@��LQFOXGLQJ�

core principles, and the [CFTC] rHJXODWLRQV�WKHUHXQGHU�´����&�)�5���������D�����Y�� 

 58. 17 C.F.R. § 40.11(c) established a 90-day review process: if an 

exchange, like Kalshi, self-certifies a new event contract that may violate Regulation 

40.11(a), the Commission can stay the listing for up to 90 days while it evaluates the 

contract and then issue an order approving or disapproving it. Id.  

 59. Thus, by 2011, the regulatory structure was in place to address the rise 

of event contracts, which previously fell into a gray area between regulated futures 

and mere wagers. 

 60. Until recently, the CFTC¶V� FRQVLVWHQW� VWDQFH� KDV� EHHQ� WR� SURKLELW�

FRQWUDFWV� WKDW� LW�YLHZV�DV�³JDPLQJ´�RU�EHWWLQJ-type events, while permitting other 

event-based contracts.  

 61. $W� ERWWRP�� WKH� SXUFKDVH� RU� VDOH� RI� D� ³WUXH´� IXWXUHV� FRQWUDFW� RQ� DQ�

exchange is motivated by two economic purposes ² (1) the opportunity to make a 

profit or (2) to minimize the risk of loss from a change in the market price or the 
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happening of an event.  

 62. 7KXV�� ³WUXH´� IXWXUHV� FRQWUDFWV�� DQG� WKH� SXUSRVHV� IRU� ZKLFK� WKH\� DUH�

WUDGHG�� ³VHUYH>@� OHJLWLPDWH� KHGJLQJ� DQG� SULFH� GLVFRYHU\� IXQFWLRQV�� WKHUHE\�

IDFLOLWDWLQJ�SURGXFWLRQ�RI�WKH�XQGHUO\LQJ�FRPPRGLW\�´�Bd. of Trade v. SEC, 677 F.2d 

�������������WK�&LU���������³,QGHHG��RQH�EDVLF�MXVWLILFDWLRQ�IRU�D�IXWXUHV�PDUNHW�LV�

WKDW�IXWXUHV�WUDGLQJ�LQ�D�FHQWUDO�ORFDWLRQ�SHUIRUPV�D�µSULFH�GLVFRYHU\¶�IXQFWLRQ�IRU�WKH�

underlying commodity, thereby furnishing producers and users a reference point for 

their pricing on the caVK�PDUNHW�´�Id. at 1173 n.15. 

 63. 7KLV� LV�� XOWLPDWHO\�� ZKDW� GLIIHUHQWLDWHV� ³WUXH´� FRPPRGLWLHV� IXWXUHV�

contracts from gambling on a sporting event. While gambling via an event contract 

RQ�QH[W�\HDU¶V�UDLQIDOO�PHDVXUHV�DOORZV�D�ZKHDW�IDUPHU�WR�KHGJH�DJDLQVW�WKH�ULVN�RI�D�

low production year in the event of a lack of rain, betting on whether the 49ers will 

win the Super Bowl serves no hedging or other economic purpose. Nor does it 

perform any price discovery function on an underlying commodity. It is simply 

gambling on sports. And it is offered, unabashedly, by Kalshi, to the public, as such, 

even within states and Indian reservations that strictly prohibit sports betting. 

 64. In resorting to this legal fiction, Kalshi seeks to blur the distinction 

between careful minimization and allocation of market risk and what, in reality, 

amounts to unregulated sports gambling, to such an extent that the preexisting 

regulatory regime that distinguishes futures from off-exchange betting cannot 

restrict their business.  

 65. 6XFK�D�UHVXOW�UXQV�GLUHFWO\�FRQWUDU\�WR�&RQJUHVV¶V�LQWHQW�LQ�HQDFWLQJ�WKH�

2010 amendments to the CEA to specifically give the CFTC the authority to prohibit 

sports wagering contracts, which ² categorically ² do not fulfill the economic 

SXUSRVHV�IRU�ZKLFK�³WUXH´�IXWXUHV�FRQWUDFWV�DUH�SHUPLWWHG, but regulated:  

Mrs. FEINSTEIN. I am glad the Senator is restoring this authority to 
WKH� &)7&�� ,� KRSH� LW� ZDV� WKH� 6HQDWRU¶V� LQWHQW�� DV� WKH� DXWKRU� RI� WKLV�
SURYLVLRQ�� WR�GHILQH� ³SXEOLF� LQWHUHVW´�EURDGO\� VR� WKDW� WKH�&)7&�PD\�
consider the extent to which a proposed derivative contract would be 
used predominantly by speculators or participants not having a 
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commercial or hedging interest. Will CFTC have the power to 
determine that a contract is a gaming contract if the predominant use of 
the contract is speculative as opposed to a hedging or economic use? 

Mrs. LINCOLN. That is our intent. The Commission needs the power 
to, and should, prevent derivatives contracts that are contrary to the 
public interest because they exist predominantly to enable gambling 
WKURXJK�VXSSRVHG�³HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV�´�,W�ZRXOG�EH�TXLWe easy to construct 
DQ�³HYHQW�FRQWUDFW´�DURXQG�VSRUWLQJ�HYHQWV�VXFK�DV�WKH�6XSHU�%RZO��WKH�
Kentucky Derby, and Masters Golf Tournament. These types of 
contracts would not serve any real commercial purpose. Rather, 
they would be used solely for gambling. 

156 Cong. Rec. S5906-07, (daily ed. July 15, 2010)(emphasis added). 

 66. Kalshi¶s RSHUDWLRQV�TXLWH�FOHDUO\�³FRQVWUXFW�DQ�µHYHQW�FRQWUDFW¶�DURXQG�

VSRUWLQJ�HYHQWV�VXFK�DV�WKH�6XSHU�%RZO´�DQG��WKHUHIRUH��VHUYH�QR�UHDO�FRPPHUFLDO�

purpose. Rather, they are used solely for gambling, in direct violation of the CEA 

and its implementing regulations DQG�DV�VKRZQ�DERYH� WKH� ,*5$��DQG� WKH�7ULEHV¶�

3URFHGXUHV��&RPSDFWV��2UGLQDQFHV�DQG�7*&¶V�UHJXODWLRQV.  

 67. %HFDXVH�.DOVKL¶V�FRQWUDFWV�DUH�QRW�IXWXUHV�FRQWUDFWV�but instead simply 

gambling on sports, as defined by the Tribes¶ Compacts, Procedures, Ordinances 

and state law, ZKLFK�GRHV�QRW�³SHUPLW´�DQ\�HQWLW\�ZLWKLQ�WKH�6WDWH��WR�RIIHU�IRU�SOD\�

within the State sports betting, Kalshi¶V offering of the contracts to the general public 

for play on the Tribes¶ Reservations violates the IGRA.   

 68. B\� PDNLQJ� LWV� VSRUWV� ZDJHULQJ� FRQWUDFWV� DYDLODEOH� RQ� WKH� 7ULEHV¶�

5HVHUYDWLRQV��DQG�RIIHULQJ�IRU�SOD\�WR�WKH�JHQHUDO�SXEOLF�WKH�JDPH�RI�VSRUWV�EHWWLQJ��

.DOVKL�QRW�RQO\�YLRODWHV�HDFK�RI�WKH�7ULEHV¶�3URFHGXUHV��&RPSDFWV��2UGLQDQFHV��DQG�

7*&�UHJXODWLRQV��EXW�LW�DOVR�GLUHFWO\�LQWHUIHUHV�ZLWK�DQG�LPSDLUV�WKH�7ULEHV¶�VRYHUHLJQ�

ULJKW�WR�UHJXODWH�JDPLQJ�RQ�WKHLU�5HVHUYDWLRQV� 

 ��� )XUWKHUPRUH�� E\� LOOHJDOO\� RIIHULQJ� LWV� VSRUWV� ZDJHULQJ� FRQWUDFWV� WR�

SHUVRQV� ORFDWHG� ERWK� RQ� DQG� RII� RI� WKH�5HVHUYDWLRQV� LQ�&DOLIRUQLD�� .DOVKL� GUDZV�

EXVLQHVV�DZD\�IURP�WKH�7ULEHV¶�FDVLQRV�E\�DOORZLQJ�SDWURQV�WR�SDUWLFLSDWH�LQ�FODVV�,,,�

JDPLQJ�IURP�WKHLU�KRPHV��/RVV�RI�UHYHQXH�KDV�D�GLUHFW�LPSDFW�RQ�WULEDO�JRYHUQPHQWDO�

IXQFWLRQV� DQG� KDV� D� WDQJLEOH� HIIHFW� RQ� WKH� VHUYLFHV� DQG� SURJUDPV� WKH� WULEDO�
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JRYHUQPHQWV�SURYLGH�WR�WKHLU�PHPEHUV�DQG�DOO�SHUVRQV�ZKR�OLYH��ZRUN��DQG�YLVLW�WKH�

5HVHUYDWLRQV��� 

 ��� On information and belief, Kalshi has offered and continues to offer its 

sports event contracts to consumers on the Reservations with the knowledge that its 

sports event contracts undercut tribal class III gaming markets, in violation of IGRA, 

over which Congress, the federal, state and tribal governments exercise exclusive 

regulatory jurisdiction. 

   .$/6+,¶6�(9$6,21�2)�&)7&�5(*8/$7,21 

 71. In 2020, as stated above, the CFTC authorized Kalshi to list event 

contracts for public trading as a DCM. KalshiEX LLC v. CFTC, 2024 WL 4164694, 

at *4.  

 72. On June 12, 2023, Kalshi filed a self-certification to trade congressional 

control contracts, which allowed buyers to predict which political party will control 

the U.S. House of Representatives or Senate on a specific, future date, and took the 

form of a ELQDU\��³\HV�QR´�HYHQW�FRQWUDFW�WKDW�SRVHG�WKH�TXHVWLRQ��³:LOO��FKDPEHU�

RI� &RQJUHVV!� EH� FRQWUROOHG� E\� �SDUW\!� IRU� �WHUP!"´�KalshiEX LLC, 2024 WL 

4164694, at *4.  

 73. On June 23, 2023, the CFTC sent a letter to Kalshi representing that it 

had exercised its authority to initiate a 90-GD\� UHYLHZ� RI� .DOVKL¶V� VHOI-certified 

VXEPLVVLRQ� EHFDXVH� LW� GHWHUPLQHG� WKDW� WKH� FRQWUDFWV� ³PD\� LQYROYH�� UHODWH� WR�� RU�

reference an activity HQXPHUDWHG´�LQ�WKH�&($�DQG�DSSOLFDEOH�UHJXODWLRQV��KalshiEX 

LLC, 2024 WL 4164694, at *4; Notification of 90-day Review (June 23, 2023)2; 

Release Number 8728-23, CFTC Announces Review of Kalshi Congressional 

Control Contracts and Public Comment Period (June 23, 2023).3 

 74. On September 22, 2023, at the conclusion of the 90-day review period, 

the CFTC issued an order prohibiting Kalshi from listing its congressional control 

 
2 https://www.cftc.gov/sites/default/files/filings/ptc/23/06/ptc0623230001.pdf. 
3 https://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/PressReleases/8728-23. 
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contracts for trading pursuant to 17 C.F.R. § 40.11, consistent with 7 U.S.C. § 7a-

2(c)(5)(C). KalshiEX LLC, 2024 WL 4164694, at *5. In its order the CFTC 

GHWHUPLQHG� WKDW� .DOVKL¶V� FRQJUHVVLRQDO� FRQWURO� FRQWUDFWV� LQYROYH� WZR� DFWLYLWLHV�

enumerated in the special rule: gaming and unlawful activity. KalshiEX LLC, 2024 

:/����������DW�
���$V�D�UHVXOW��WKH�&)7&�IRXQG�WKDW�.DOVKL¶V�FRQJUHVVLRQDO�FRQWURO�

contracts were contrary to the public interest. KalshiEX LLC, 2024 WL 4164694, at 

*6; CFTC Order (September 22, 2023)4; Release Number 8780-23, CFTC 

'LVDSSURYHV� .DOVKL(;� //&¶V� &RQJUHVVLRQDO� &RQWURO� &RQWUDFWV (September 22, 

2023).5  

 75. On November 1, 2023, Kalshi initiated litigation against the CFTC, 

challenging the CFTC determination, inter alia��WKDW�.DOVKL¶V�FRQJUHVVLRQDO�FRQWURO�

contracts were contrary to the public interest because the contracts involve gaming.  

 76. In the KalshiEX LLC litigation, Kalshi argued its election contracts do 

QRW�LQYROYH�JDPLQJ�EHFDXVH�DQ�HYHQW�FRQWUDFW�LQYROYHV�JDPLQJ�³LI�LW�LV�FRQWLQJHQW�

on a game or game-UHODWHG�HYHQW´�VXFK�DV�³WKH�.HQWXFN\�'HUE\��6XSHU�%RZO��RU�

0DVWHUV�JROI�WRXUQDPHQW�´� 

 77. In the KalshiEX LLC litigation, the Court acknowledged the potential 

DSSOLFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�,*5$�LQ�VXSSO\LQJ�D�GHILQLWLRQ�RI�³JDPLQJ´�DV�FRGLILHG�LQ��EXW�QRW�

defined by, the CEA and implementing regulations. KalshiEX LLC, 2024 WL 

���������DW�
���³$QG�ZKLOH�WKH�&)7&¶V�RUGHU�DOVR�FRQVLGHUHG�DQG�SXOOHG�GHILQLWLRQV�

from a federal statute, it did not look to the only one that the Court is aware actually 

XVHV�WKH�WHUP�µJDPLQJ¶²the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA), 25 U.S.C. § 

�����´��� 

 78. June 10, 2024, the CFTC proposed rule-amendments to 17 C.F.R. Part 

���� WR�³VSHFLI\� W\SHV�RI�HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV� WKDW�IDOO�ZLWKLQ�WKH�VFRSH�RI�&($�VHFWLRQ�

�F�F�����&��DQG�DUH�FRQWUDU\�WR�WKH�SXEOLF�LQWHUHVW�´�(YHQW�&RQWUDFWV�����)HG��5HJ��
 

4 
https://www.cftc.gov/sites/default/files/filings/documents/2023/orgkexkalshiordersig230922.pdf. 
5 https://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/PressReleases/8780-23.  
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48968-01, *48969. The proposed rule-amendments repeatedly acknowledge the 

&)7&¶V� OLPLWHG� UHVRXUFHV�� ³)URP� D� UHVRXUFH� DOORFDWLRQ� SHUVSHFWLYH�� WKLV� >UXOH-

amendment] will be of significant benefit to the Commission and its staff, since, in 

WKH�&RPPLVVLRQ¶V�H[perience, a single § 40.11(c) review is resource-intensive and 

FRQVXPHV�KXQGUHGV�RI�KRXUV�RI�VWDII� WLPH�´� Id. The rule-amendments were never 

finalized. 

 79. On January 7, 2025, CFTC Chairman, Rostin Behnam, announced that 

he would step down from the position of Chairman on January 20, 2025, and that 

%HQKDP¶V�ODVW�GD\�DW�WKH�&RPPLVVLRQ�ZRXOG�EH�)HEUXDU\����������3XEOLF�6WDWHPHQWV�

& Remarks, Chairman Rostin Behnam Announces Departure from CFTC (January 

7, 2025).6  

 80. On January 13, 2025, Donald Trump, Jr. announced that he was joining 

Kalshi as a strategic adviser. Brett Samuels, Trump Jr. joins betting market Kalshi 

as adviser (January 13, 2025).7  

 81. On January 22, 2025, Kalshi filed a self-certification to trade sports 

event contracts, which allowed buyers to predict the winner of a sport event title 

UHODWHG�WR�$PHULFDQ�VSRUWV�OHDJXHV��DQG�WRRN�WKH�IRUP�RI�D�ELQDU\��³\HV�QR´�HYHQW�

contract that posed WKH�TXHVWLRQ��³:LOO��WHDP!�ZLQ��WLWOH!"´�7KH�VHOI-certification 

does not mention the prohibited contracts enumerated in 7 U.S.C. § 7a-2(c)(5)(C) or 

that, as a registered entity, Kalshi is prohibited from listing contracts that involve 

gaming pursuant to 17 C.F.R. § 40.11. The self-certification merely states that it is 

CEA compliant. Kalshi Notification Regarding the Initial Listing (January 22, 

2025).8  

 82. On February 5, 2025, the CTFC announced its intent to hold a public 

roundtable related to sports-related event contracts. The purpose of the roundtable 

ZDV� WR� ³HVWDEOLVK� D� KROLVWLF� UHJXODWRU\� IUDPHZRUN� WKDW� ZLOO� ERWK� IRVWHU� WKULYLQJ�
 

6 https://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/SpeechesTestimony/behnamstatement010725. 
7 https://thehill.com/business/5082357-trump-jr-joins-kalshi-prediction-market/. 
8 https://www.cftc.gov/sites/default/files/filings/ptc/25/01/ptc01222514045.pdf. 
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prediction markets and protect retail customers from binary options fraud such as 

GHFHSWLYH� DQG� DEXVLYH� PDUNHWLQJ� DQG� VDOHV� SUDFWLFHV�´9 The roundtable was to 

LQFOXGH�WRSLFV�VXFK�DV��³&)7&-UHJLVWHUHG�HQWLWLHV¶�OHJDO�DUJXPHQWV�LQ�FRXUW�WKDW�HYHQW�

FRQWUDFWV�EDVHG�RQ�JDPHV�RU�VSRUWV�FRQWHVWV�RU�VSRUWLQJ�HYHQWV�FRQVWLWXWH�µJDPLQJ¶�

DQG�DUH�WKHUHIRUH�SURKLELWHG�XQGHU�WKH�&RPPRGLW\�([FKDQJH�$FW�´�DV�ZHOO�DV�³RWKHU�

issues including but not limited to Constitutional questions such as the Commerce 

&ODXVH��6WDWHV¶�ULJKWV�DQG�6WDWH�UHJXODWRU\�VFKHPHV��)HGHUDOLVP��)HGHUDO�SUHHPSWLRQ�

doctrines, and Tribal sovereignty as well as other federal laws applicable to sports 

EHWWLQJ�´� 5HOHDVH� 1XPEHU� ����-25, CFTC Announces Prediction Markets 

Roundtable (February 5, 2025).10 The roundtable was then subsequently cancelled 

without explanation. Dustin Gouker, News: CFTC Cancels Prediction Markets 

Roundtable, Event Horizon (April 24, 2025).11 

 83. On February 7, 2025,12 Kalshi filed a self-certification to trade sports 

event contracts, which allowed buyers to predict the winner of a sport event title 

UHODWHG�WR�$PHULFDQ�VSRUWV�OHDJXHV��DQG�WRRN�WKH�IRUP�RI�D�ELQDU\��³\HV�QR´�HYHQW�

FRQWUDFW�WKDW�SRVHG�WKH�TXHVWLRQ��³:LOO��WHDP!�ZLQ��HYHQW!"´�7KH�VHOI-certification 

does not mention the prohibited contracts enumerated in 7 U.S.C. § 7a-2(c)(5)(C) or 

that, as a registered entity, Kalshi is prohibited from listing contracts that involve 

gaming pursuant to 17 C.F.R. § 40.11. The self-certification merely states that it is 

CEA compliant. Kalshi Notification Regarding the Initial Listing (February 7, 

2025).13  

 84. On February 11, 2025, President Donald Trump nominated Brian 

Quintenz, a Kalshi Board Member, to replace Rostin Behnam as the Chairman of 

WKH�&)7&��4XLQWHQ]��LQ�D�VWDWHPHQW�FRQFHUQLQJ�WKH�&)7&¶V�UHYLHZ�RI�(ULV;�IXWXUHV�

contracts involving NFL football games on March 25, 2021, asserted that the CEA 
 

9 https://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/PressReleases/9046-25  
10 https://www.cftc.gov/PressRoom/PressReleases/9046-25. 
11 https://nexteventhorizon.substack.com/p/news-cftc-cancels-prediction-markets. 
12 This is the same day former Chairman Behnam exited the CFTC.  
13 https://www.cftc.gov/sites/default/files/filings/ptc/25/02/ptc02072514957.pdf. 
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³VSHFLDO� UXOH�´� �� 8�6�&�� �� �D-2(c)(5)(C), is unconstitutional, that the CFTC 

regulation, 17 C.F.R. § 40.11 is invalid, that the prohibited contracts enumerated in 

7 U.S.C. § 7a-2(c)(5)(C) and 17 C.F.R. § 40.11 are not, in fact, prohibited and that 

³WKH�&RPmission is not a moral arbiter. It is not expert [sic] in determining what the 

>VLF@�LV�LQ�WKH�SXEOLF¶V�LQWHUHVW��DQG�LW�LV�FHUWDLQO\�QRW�HTXLSSHG�WR�WHOO�WKH�SXEOLF�ZKDW�

its interest should EH�´�4XLQWHQ]�6WDWHPHQW��supra. 

 85. Quintenz DOVR�VWDWHG��³,QWHUHVWLQJO\��WKH�VWDWXWH�DOVR�GRHV�QRW�UHTXLUH�WKH�

Commission to make any determinations on these contracts at all. It is completely 

up to the Commission to decide whether and when to review an enumerated event 

contract or set of contracts for a public interest determination. If the Commission 

made no public interest determinations pursuant to this statutory section, it would 

QRQHWKHOHVV�EH�IROORZLQJ�WKH�ODZ�´�4XLQWHQ]�6WDWHPHQW��supra.  

 86. 2Q�0DUFK����������WKH�0DMRU�/HDJXH�%DVHEDOO��³0/%´��ZURWH�D�OHWWHU�

WR�WKH�&)7&�H[SUHVVLQJ�FRQFHUQV�DERXW�VSRUWV�HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV��7KH�0/%�VWDWHG��³$V�

the resemblance between sports event contracts and traditional sports betting 

markets continues to grow, so too does the need to replicate the integrity and 

consumer protections that exist at the state level. Currently, those protections are 

ODFNLQJ�´14 

 87. On March 17, 2025, Robinhood announced that it partnered with Kalshi 

WR� RIIHU� 0DUFK� 0DGQHVV� VSRUWV� HYHQW� FRQWUDFWV�� .DOVKL¶V� &(2�� 7DUHN� 0DQVRXU�

VWDWHG��³>ZH@�FRXOGQ¶W�DVN�IRU�D�EHWWHU�SDUWQHU�LQ�5RELQKRRG�WR�EULQJ�RXU�YLVLRQ�WR�

HYHU\� $PHULFDQ�´� 7RP�1LJKWLQgale, Robinhood launches Kalshi-powered sports 

markets, starting with March Madness, SBC Americas (March 17, 2025).15  

 88. On May 16, 2025, interim Chairman of the CFTC, Caroline Pham 

signaled her intent to leave the CFTC once Quintenz is confirmed to the appointment 

of the CFTC Chairman, leaving only Quintenz and commissioner Kristin Johnson 

 
14 https://www.cftc.gov/media/11941/MLB030725/download (last visited June 24, 2025). 
15 https://sbcamericas.com/2025/03/17/robinhood-kalshi-sports-event-contracts/. 
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on the Commission. Jesse Hamilton, &)7&¶V�3KDP�6DLG�WR�3ORW�([LW��$JHQF\�0D\�

Be Left Without a Party Majority, Coin Desk (May 16, 2025).16  

 89. On May 21, 2025, Quintenz submitted an ethics statement to the CFTC, 

confirming that Quintenz was employed by Kalshi and held stock and unvested stock 

options in Kalshi. Brian Quintenz, Ethics Statement to CFTC at 2 (May 21, 2025).17  

 90. On May 28, 2025, CFTC Commissioner Kristin Johnson signaled her 

LQWHQW� WR� OHDYH� WKH� &)7&� ³ODWHU� WKLV� \HDU�´� OHDYLQJ� 4XLQWHQ]� DV� WKH� VROH�

commissioner.  Julia Shapero, CFTC leaders exit as Trump pick prepares to take 

helm, The Hill (May 28, 2025).18  

 91. On information and belief, Kalshi has been prolific in offering sports 

event contracts with the knowledge that the legality of their sports event contracts is 

highly questionable and widely criticized as an impermissible form of sports gaming 

or gambling, at a time when power in the CFTC is being consolidated in one 

commissioner, Quintenz, a Kalshi board member, with the knowledge that the CFTC 

LV�XQGHUVWDIIHG�DQG�ODFNV�WKH�UHVRXUFHV�WR�DGHTXDWHO\�UHYLHZ�DQG�UHJXODWH�.DOVKL¶V�

self-certified contracts to ensure compliance with the CEA.  

 92. As a direct results of these events, Kalshi has been able to avoid 

regulation of its sport gambling activities by the CFTC. 

.$/6+,¶6�)$/6(�$1'�0,6/($',1*�$'9(57,6,1* 

93. Kalshi actively promotes its products, including its sports event 

contracts, across major social media platforms such as TikTok, Instagram, X.com, 

and YouTube. 

94. On its Instagram account, @kalshi_official, Kalshi, as shown in Exhibit 

$�� KDV� SXEOLVKHG� DGYHUWLVHPHQWV� DVVHUWLQJ� LWVHOI� DV� ³7KH� )LUVW� 1DWLRQZLGH� /HJDO�
 

16 https://www.coindesk.com/policy/2025/05/14/cftc-s-pham-said-to-plot-exit-agency-may-be-
left-without-a-party-majority. 
17 
https://extapps2.oge.gov/201/Presiden.nsf/PAS+Index/009D247776338CD385258C95002C929F
/$FILE/Quintenz%2C%20Brian%20D.%20%20finalEA.pdf. 
18 https://thehill.com/newsletters/technology/5322818-cftc-leaders-exit-as-trump-pick-prepares-
to-take-helm/. 
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6SRUWV�%HWWLQJ�3ODWIRUP´�DQG�WKDW�LWV�FXVWRPHUV�FDQ�HQJDJH�LQ�³6SRUWV�%HWWLQJ�/HJDO�

LQ�DOO����6WDWHV�RQ�.DOVKL´ (Exhibit A). 

95. .DOVKL¶V� ,QVWDJUDP�DFFRXQW� LQFOXGHV� D� SRVW�� GDWHG� -DQXDU\����� ������

VWDWLQJ�LQ�WKH�FDSWLRQ�SRVW��³/HJDO�VSRUWV�PDUNHWV��DFFHVVLEOH�WR�$PHULFDQV�LQ�DOO����

VWDWHV�´�7KH�SRVW�UHPDLQV�DFFHVVLEOH�RQ�.DOVKL¶V�,QVWDJUDP��([KLELW�%�� 

96. .DOVKL¶V� ,QVWDJUDP� DFFRXQW� DOVR� LQFOXGHV� D� SRVW�� GDWHG� )HEUXDU\� ���

2025, containing a screenshot of an article from Front Office Sports stating 

³5RELQKRRG�WR�2IIHU�6XSHU�%RZO�%HWWLQJ�YLD�.DOVKL�´�7KH�SRVW�UHPDLQV�DFFHVVLEOH�

RQ�.DOVKL¶V�,QVWDJUDP��([KLELW�&). 

97. 2Q� -XQH� ���� ������ .DOVKL� SRVWHG� DQ� DUWLILFLDO� LQWHOOLJHQFH� �³$,´��

generated video advertisement to its Instagram account. Kalshi has also posted this 

video on other platforms such as TikTok. The advertisement contains depictions of 

SHRSOH�H[FODLPLQJ�³,¶P�DOO� LQ�RQ�2.&´�DQG�³,QGLDQD�JRW� WKDW�GRJ� LQ� WKHP�´�7KH�

DGYHUWLVHPHQW�IXUWKHU�FRQWDLQV�D�GHSLFWLRQ�RI�D�VKLUWOHVV�PDQ�H[FODLPLQJ��³.DOVKL�OHWV�

\RX�OHJDOO\�WUDGH�RQ�DQ\WKLQJ��DQ\ZKHUH�LQ�WKH�8�6�´ 

98. On July 19th, 2025, Kalshi sponsored a TikTok video where a man 

explains to viewers, in response to questions by a woman asking about the legality 

RI�.DOVKL¶V�FRQWUDFWV��LQ�WKH�YLGHR�WKDW�.DOVKL�LV�³WRWDOO\�>OHJDO@�«�LQ�DOO����VWDWHV��

HYHQ�&DOLIRUQLD´��([Kibit C). 

99. As part of its widespread promotional strategy, Kalshi has posted on its 

TikTok a video where Kalshi describes its platform as a place for placing ³live bets´ 

in various promotional materials including billboard signs, out-of-home advertising 

on bus stops, on trucks, and the sides of buildings, in various locations including 

New York City, Los Angeles, Miami, and Dallas.  

100. 6RFLDO�PHGLD�XVHUV�KDYH�UDLVHG�TXHVWLRQV�DERXW�WKH�OHJDOLW\�RI�.DOVKL¶V�

SURGXFWV��ZLWK�VSHFLILF�FRPPHQWV�H[SUHVVLQJ�FRQIXVLRQ��VXFK�DV��³,V�WKLV�DSS�OHJLW"´�

Users have also raised concerns regarding their own legal liability for using Kalshi. 

On Reddit pagH� U�.DOVKL��RQH�XVHU� VWDWHG��³,� MXVW�ZDQWHG� WR�FRQILUP�EHIRUH�XVLQJ�
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.DOVKL��:DVKLQJWRQ�VWDWH�KDV�VWULFW�µJDPEOLQJ¶�ODZV�LQ�SODFH�DQG�,�NQRZ�.DOVKL�LV�D�

trading app for contracts. Is there a guarantee I will not get into any legal trouble for 

XVLQJ�WKHUH�>VLF@�DSS�LQ�WKH�VWDWH"´19 

101. Social media users have expressed concern regarding these products, 

VWDWLQJ�� ³.DOVKL� LV� GDQJHURXV��6SRUWV�EHWWLQJ� VKRXOG�QRW�EH�RND\� IRU�XQGHU���� OHW�

DORQH�LQ�DOO����VWDWHV´���([KLELW�'��  

102. 2Q�RQH�RI�.DOVKL¶V�SURPRWLRQDO�7LN7RN�SRVWV�DGGHG�WR�WKH�VLWH�RQ�-XO\�

���� ������ YDULRXV� 7LN7RN� XVHUV� FRPPHQWHG�� ³7KLV� VKRXOGQ¶W� EH� OHJDO´�� ³%HWWLQJ�

FXOWXUH� LV� FUD]]\\\´�� ³'LGQ¶W� (QURQ� GR� WKH� H[DFW� VDPH� WKLQJ"´�� ³(QURQ� LV� EDFN�

EDE\�´�� ³%HWWLQJ� RQ� WKH�ZHDWKHU� LV� LQVDQH´�� ³3UHGDWRU\�PDUNHWLQJ´�� ³&DOOLQJ� LW� D�

WUDGLQJ�DSS�LV�FUD]\´��³,�µWUDGHG¶�LW�DOO�RQ�EODFN�DQG�QRZ�LP�E\�WKH�ZHQG\¶V�GXPSVWHU�

LI� DQ\ERG\�ZDQWV� VHUYLFH� IRU�D���´��³$GGLFWLRQ� W\SH�EHDW´�� ³�-800-*$0%/(5´��

³µ7UDGLQJ¶´�� ³µ7UDGH¶� LPD� EX\� ���� WKDW LW¶V� VXQQ\� WRPRUURZ��<HD� WKDW¶V� D� WUDGH�

DOULJKW´��³$V�D�PHWHRURORJLVW�ZRXOG�WKLV�EH�LQVLGHU�WUDGLQJ"´��³+RO\�DGGLFWLRQ´��³µ,�

WUDGHG� WKDW� ,¶G� EH«¶� GDZJ� WKDW¶V� FDOOHG� EHWWLQJ��<RX� JDPEOHG�´�� ³7KLV� LV� OLWHUDO�

GLVWRSLD��3OHDVH�GRQ¶W�GR�WKLV�´��([KLELW�(�� 

103. .DOVKL¶V�SURPRWLRQDO�PDWHULDOV�IUHTXHQWO\�XWLOL]H�WKH�WHUP�³RGGV´�LQ�LWV�

DGYHUWLVHPHQWV��.DOVKL�HYHQ�VHOOV�PHUFKDQGLVH��LQFOXGLQJ�KDWV�WKDW�VD\�³:KDW�DUH�WKH�

RGGV´��([KLELW�)�� 

104. .DOVKL¶V�GHFHSWLYH�SURPRWLRQDO�PDWHULDOV�DOVR�SUH-date its push into the 

sports gambling market. For instance, in close proximity to its advertisements of 

sports event contracts on various social media platforms, Kalshi marketed its 

platform as a betting app during the 2024 U.S. Presidential election. In one video 

posted on October 17, 2024, which remains available RQ�.DOVKL¶V�7LNWRN�SDJH��DQ�

interviewer is seen pulling a number of voters aside who are going to the polls to 

YRWH�DQG�DVNLQJ�³+RZ�PXFK�PRQH\�ZRXOG�\RX�EHW�RQ�7UXPS�ZLQQLQJ�WKH�HOHFWLRQ"´  

105. On October 15, 2024, Kalshi posted a TikTok video on its official 
 

19 https://www.reddit.com/r/Kalshi/comments/1m0c3da/legality_behind_kalshi/  
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account, which remains available to users on its page, where its CEO and Co-

IRXQGHU��7DUHN�0DVRXU��H[SODLQV�LQ�UHVSRQVH�WR�WKH�TXHVWLRQ�³+H\�P\�PDQ��ZKDW�GR�

\RX�GR�IRU�D� OLYLQJ´�� WKDW�³,¶P�WKH�IRXQGHU�RI�.DOVKL� >«@� LWV�DQ�DSS�DQG�ZHEVLWH�

where you can bet RQ�DQ\WKLQJ�´�,Q�WKH�YLGHR��WKH�PDQ�WKHQ�DVNV��³DQ\WKLQJ"´�DQG�

7DUHN�0DQVRXU� UHSOLHV�� ³$Q\WKLQJ�� >���@� :H� DUH� WKH� ILUVW� SODWIRUP� WKDW� OHJDOL]HG�

betting on the U.S. election. Now, Americans can actually bet on whose going to 

win, Trump versus Kamala. You can bet on the weather tomorrow. You can bet on 

LQIODWLRQ��<RX�FDQ�EHW�RQ�ZKHWKHU�(ULF�$GDPV�LV�JRQQD�JHW�ILUHG��2U�ZKHQ�KH¶V�JRQQD�

JHW�ILUHG�´   

106. Additionally, on October 17, 2024, Kalshi posted a TikTok video on its 

official account, which remains available to users on its page, where its CEO and 

Co-IRXQGHU��7DUHN�0DVRXU��H[SODLQV�WKDW�³,�ZDQWHG�WR�VHH�RXU�%LOOERDUG��6R��WKHVH�

are live trades, live EHWV��RI�SHRSOH�DFWXDOO\�EHWWLQJ�RQ�WKH�H[FKDQJH�DV�ZH�VSHDN«�

,I�\RX�EHW�RQ�.DOVKL�ULJKW�QRZ��\RX¶UH�JRQQD�JHW�VWUHDPHG�RQ�WKLV�ELOOERDUG�´ 

107. Likewise, D� 7LN7RN� SRVW� RQ� .DOVKL¶V� SDJH� IURP� 2FWREHU� ���� ������

VWDWHV��³)RU�WKH�ILUVW�WLPH�LQ�����\HDUV��\RX�FDQ�OHJDOO\�EHW�RQ�8�6��HOHFWLRQV�´�7KH�

SRVW� LQWHUYLHZV� GLIIHUHQW� LQGLYLGXDOV�� LQFOXGLQJ� RQH� SHUVRQ�ZKR� VD\V�� ³,I� ,� FRXOG�

mortgage my house to bet on Trump, ,�ZRXOG�´ 

 .$/6+,¶6�$1'�52%,1+22'¶6�ILLEGAL RACKETEERING 

108. Kalshi, as Designated ContrDFW� 0DUNHW� �³'&0´��� RSHUDWHV� DV� D�

federally regulated exchange where users can trade event contracts based on the 

outcome of future events. This means individuals can buy and sell contracts, 

HVVHQWLDOO\�EHWWLQJ�³\HV´�RU�³QR´�RQ�ZKHWKHU�D�VSHFLILF�HYHQW�ZLOl occur. These events 

include economic indicators (e.g., GDP, inflation, unemployment rates), company 

performance (e.g., earnings releases), and weather outcomes (e.g., temperature, 

rainfall). The price of a contract reflects the market¶s perceived probability, and 

correct predictions lead to a predetermined payout. See How are prices determined, 
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Kalshi.com (Accessed: 18 April 2025).20 

 109. .DOVKL¶V� SODWIRUP� HQVXUHV� OLTXLGLW\� WKURXJK� D� SDUWQHUVKLS� ZLWK�

6XVTXHKDQQD� ,QWHUQDWLRQDO� *URXS�� //3� �³6XVTXHKDQQD´��� 6XVTXHKDQQD� SURYLGHV�

liquidity by consistently taking the opposite side of trades, thereby ensuring there 

are always buyers and sellers avaLODEOH�� ,Q� HIIHFW�� 6XVTXHKDQQD� DFWV� DV� .DOVKL¶V�

³KRXVH�´�IDFLOLWDWLQJ�WKH�FRQWLQXRXV�DQG�VPRRWK�H[HFXWLRQ�RI�WKHVH�HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV��

which function as wagers. 

 110. .DOVKL¶V�3ULYDF\�3ROLF\�VWDWHV�WKDW�.DOVKL�FROOHFWV�SHUVRQDO�LQIRUPDWLRQ�

when a user interacts with its services, such as signing up, registering for 

Membership, requesting a transaction, or communicating with Kalshi. Kalshi 

Privacy Policy (Effective Date: December 20, 2023).21 

 111. Certain information, like Location Data, Device Data, and Usage, is 

FROOHFWHG� DXWRPDWLFDOO\� WKURXJK� WUDFNLQJ� WHFKQRORJLHV�� .DOVKL¶V� 3ULYDF\� 3ROLF\�

specifically states the company collects location data, including current and past 

geographic spot, GPS location, transaction locations, and the IP address of the device 

used. Id. 

 112. Kalshi also gathers information automatically whenever a user visits its 

site, uses services, opens emails, or otherwise interacts with the company, utilizing 

various tracking technologies such as cookies, web beacons, and embedded scripts. 

Kalshi explicitly mentions collecting device details like IP address, browser type, 

Internet Service Provider, platform type, device type, operating system, date and 

time stamps, and a unique ID for identification. Id. at p. 2.  

 113.     .DOVKL¶V�3ULYDF\�3ROLF\�VWDWHV�WKDW�WKLV�FROOHFWHG�LQIRUPDWLRQ�LV�XVHG�WR�

comply with applicable laws and regulatory obligations for a DCM. Id. at p. 3. 

 114. Robinhood¶V� financial services operate through distinct subsidiaries, 

forming a comprehensive brokerage system that serves over 25 million-plus 

 
20 https://help.kalshi.com/markets/markets-101/how-are-prices-determined  
21 https://kalshi.com/docs/kalshi-privacy-policy.pdf  
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accounts. 

 115. 5RELQKRRG¶V� HFRV\VWHP� LQFOXGHV�5RELQKRRG�'HULYDWLYHV�� //&�� 7KLV�

wholly owned subsidiary, based in Chicago, Illinois, was acquired on January 3, 

2024, from Marex Group plc (formerly Marex North America LLC). 

 116. Robinhood Derivatives, LLC operates as a Futures Commission 

0HUFKDQW��³)&0´���VROLFLWLQJ�RUGHUV�IRU�IXWXUHV�RU�RSWLRQV�FRQWUDFWV�DQG�DFFHSWLQJ�

customer assets to support such orders. It enables users to trade futures, options 

contracts, and cleared swaps. 

117. 17 C.F.R. § 166.3 applies to FCMs and UHTXLUHV�WKDW�³(DFK�&RPPLVVLRQ�

registrant, except an associated person who has no supervisory duties, must 

diligently supervise the handling by its partners, officers, employees and agents (or 

persons occupying a similar status or performing a similar function) of all 

commodity interest accounts carried, operated, advised or introduced by the 

registrant and all other activities of its partners, officers, employees and agents (or 

persons occupying a similar status or performing a similar function) relating to its 

EXVLQHVV�DV�D�&RPPLVVLRQ�UHJLVWUDQW�´ 

 118. For regulatory purposes, Robinhood Derivatives, LLC operates as a 

GLVWLQFW�HQWLW\��\HW�LW�LQWHJUDWHV�WLJKWO\�LQWR�5RELQKRRG¶V�H[LVWLQJ�EURNHUDJH�SODWIRUP��

a user cannot open an account with Robinhood Derivatives without an active 

Robinhood brokerage account.   

 119. Throughout its litigation with the CFTC, Kalshi has repeatedly 

discussed gaming within the context of sports. In KalshiEX LLC v. Commodity 

Futures Trading Comm'n, No. CV 23-3257 (JMC), 2024 WL 4164694 (D.D.C. Sept. 

12, 2024), dismissed, No. 24-5205, 2025 WL 1349979 (D.C. Cir. May 7, 2025), 

Kalshi has stated: 
a. ³$Q�HYHQW�FRQWUDFW�WKXV�LQYROYHV�µJDPLQJ¶�LI�LW�LV�FRQWLQJHQW�RQ�D�JDPH�RU�

a game-related event. . . . The classic example is a contract on the outcome 
of a sporting event; as the legislative history directly confirms, Congress 
did not want sports betting WR� EH� FRQGXFWHG� RQ� GHULYDWLYHV� PDUNHWV�´�
$SSHOOHH¶V�%ULHI��DW���� 
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b. ³(YLGHQWO\�� &RQJUHVV� VRXJKW� WR� SUHYHQW� H[FKDQJHV� IURP� IDFLOLWDWLQJ�
casino-style or sports gambling. . . . On a policy level, that makes some 
sense: The basic purpose of Designated Contract Markets is to allow 
µKHGJLQJ¶� RI� HFRQRPLF� ULVN�� �� �� �� &RQWUDFWV� WKDW� µVHUYH>@� QR� FRPPHUFLDO�
SXUSRVH� DW� DOO¶� PD\� WKHUHIRUH� QRW� GHVHUYH� WR� EH� WUDGHG� RQ� D� UHJXODWHG�
exchange. . . . And, at least in general, contracts relating to games²again, 
activities conducted for diversion or amusement²are unlikely to serve any 
µFRPPHUFLDO�RU�KHGJLQJ�LQWHUHVW�¶´�$SSHOOHH¶V�%ULHI��DW����� 

c. ³>7@KH�ZRUG�µJDPLQJ¶�RQ�LWV�IDFH�± and in accord with its legislative history 
± is concerned with casino gambling and sports, not the premise of the 
HQWLUH�GHULYDWLYHV�PDUNHW��$V�-XVWLFH�+ROPHV�SXW�LW��WKH�µSURSRVLWLRQ�WKDW�
the dealings which give its character to the great market for future sales in 
WKLV� FRXQWU\� DUH� WR� EH� UHJDUGHG� DV� PHUH� ZDJHUV¶� LV� µH[WUDRUGLQDU\� DQG�
XQOLNHO\�¶´�$SSHOOHH¶V�%ULHI��DW���� 

d. ³7KH� OHJLVODWLYH� KLVWRU\� LV� H[FOXVLYHO\� DERXW� VSRUWV�ZKHQ� LW� WDONV� DERXW�
µJDPLQJ¶�� 6R�� ,� WKLQN� WKHUH� LV� D� UHDVRQ� WR� EHOLHYH� WKDW� &RQJUHVV� ZDV�
particularly concerned at the time it enacted this statute about sports betting 
and that was probably what they weUH�JHWWLQJ�DW�ZLWK�WKH�ZRUG�µJDPLQJ�¶´�
Oral Argument, Jan. 17, 2025, at 50:22-50:40. 

 120. Kalshi has made the following statements in KalshiEX LLC v. 

Commodity Futures Trading Comm'n, 119 F.4th 58 (D.C. Cir. 2024): 

a. ³7KH� µJDPLQJ¶� FDWHJRU\� UHDFKHV� FRQWUDFWV� FRQWLQJHQW� RQ� games²for 
example, whether someone will win the Powerball lottery by a certain date, 
or whether a certain team will win the Super Bowl. It thus functions as a 
check on attempts to launder casino-style or sports gambling through the 
GHULYDWLYHV�PDUNHWV�´�3O�¶V�0HP��RI�/DZ�LQ�6XSS��RI�3O�
V�0RW��6XPP��-���
'NW��1R������DW�S����� 

b. ³7KH�RQO\�UHOHYDQW�OHJLVODWLYH�KLVWRU\��PRUHRYHU��FRQILUPV�WKDW�FRQWUDFWV�
RQ� ³VSRUWLQJ� HYHQWV� VXFK� DV� WKH� 6XSHU�%RZO�� WKH�.HQWXFN\�'HUE\�� DQG�
0DVWHUV�*ROI�7RXUQDPHQW´�ZHUH�precisely what Congress had in mind as 
³JDPLQJ´�FRQWUDFWV������&RQJ��5HF��6������GDLO\�HG��-XO\�����������´�3O�¶V�
0HP���'NW��1R������DW�S����� 

c. $UJXLQJ� WKDW� WKH� VWDWXWRU\� WHUP� µJDPLQJ¶� >DV� XVHG� LQ� �� 8�6�&�� �� �D-
��F�����&��L�@�³RQ�LWV�IDFH²and based on its legislative history²appears 
to be concerned with casinos and sports, not with the premise of the entire 
industry. Statutory context thus forecloVHV� WKH�&RPPLVVLRQ¶V� RYHUEURDG�
DSSURDFK�WR�³JDPLQJ�´�*LYLQJ�WKH�WHUP�LWV�RUGLQDU\�PHDQLQJ²betting on 
games²DYRLGV�DOO�RI�WKRVH�SLWIDOOV�´�3O�¶V�0HP���'NW��1R������DW�S�������� 

d. ³)RRWEDOO��KRUVHUDFLQJ�DQG�JROI��7KH\¶UH�DOO�JDPHV��������,W¶V�VRPHWKLQJ�WKDW�
KDV� QR� LQKHUHQW� HFRQRPLF� VLJQLILFDQFH�� ,W¶V� VRPHWKLQJ� WKDW� LV� GRQH� IRU�
amusement. It may be done for sport. It may be done purely to facilitate 
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WKH�EHWWLQJ�LWVHOI��ULJKW��IRU�LWV�RZQ�VDNH�´�2UDO�$UJ��RQ�0RWV��IRU�6XPP��-���
'NW��1R������DW�S����� 

e. ³6R� ,� WKLQN� LW� PDNHV� VHQVH� IRU� &RQJUHVV� WR� KDYH� WKRXJKW� DERXW� WKDW�
category. Contacts that involve games are probably not the type of 
FRQWUDFWV�WKDW�ZH�ZDQW�WR�EH�OLVWHG�RQ�DQ�H[FKDQJH��EHFDXVH�WKH\�GRQ¶W�KDYH�
any real economic value to them. But, again, wKDW¶V�W\LQJ�WKDW�WRJHWKHU�LV�
WKH�H[LVWHQFH�RI�WKH�JDPH�EHFDXVH�WKH�JDPH�LV�WKH�WKLQJ�WKDW�GRHVQ¶W�KDYH�
LQWULQVLF�HFRQRPLF�VLJQLILFDQFH�´�2UDO�$UJ���'NW��1R������DW�S����� 

121. Additionally, on August 8, 2024, JB Mackenzie of Robinhood 

Derivatives, through its General Counsel, Lucas Moskowitz, submitted a comment 

letter to the CFTC regarding CFTC Proposed Rule on Event Contracts. JB 

Mackenzie, Comment 74488 on Notice of Filing of Proposed Amendments to CFTC 

5HJXODWLRQ�6HFWLRQ��������$XJXVW�����������³0DFNHQ]LH�&RPPHQW´��22 In this letter, 

5RELQKRRG�'HULYDWLYHV�VWDWHG�WKDW�WKH�&)7&¶V�GHILQLWLRQV�RI�³JDPLQJ´�ZHUH�³RYHUO\�

EURDG�DQG�DPELJXRXV´�DQG�UHFRPPHQGHG�WKDW�WKH�&)7&�³IRFXV�RQ�SURKLELWLQJ�VLQJOH�

VSRUWLQJ�HYHQWV�RU�FRQWHVWV�´�0DFNHQ]LH�Comment, supra 30:19±30:21, at 1, 7. The 

letter referenced 156 Cong. Rec. S5906-07, (daily ed. July 15, 2010), and stated that 

³>W@R�WKH�H[WHQW�WKLV�GLVFXVVLRQ�RQ�WKH�IORRU�RI�WKH�6HQDWH�UHSUHVHQWV�&RQJUHVVLRQDO�

intent, it focused on a comparison of gambling related to the results of single sporting 

HYHQWV�´�Id. at 3. 

 122. Beginning in October 2024, Robinhood announced its intention to 

allow trading on the outcome of the U.S. presidential election. This announcement 

IROORZHG�.DOVKL¶V�IDYRUDEOH�UXOLQJ�DJDLQVW�WKH�&)7&��ZKLFK�DOORZHG�.DOVKL�WR�OLVW�

its election contracts. RobiQKRRG¶V� VKDUHV� VSLNHG� ��� DIWHU� WKLV� DQQRXQFHPHQW��

despite the event contracts being rolled out to a limited number of U.S. citizen users.  

 123.     Robinhood does not independently offer event contracts; instead, users 

PXVW�DFFHVV�.DOVKL¶V�WKLUG-party services directly through the Robinhood platform. 

 
22 
https://comments.cftc.gov/PublicComments/ViewComment.aspx?id=74488&SearchText=Robin
hood.  
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5RELQKRRG�EHJDQ�RIIHULQJ� DFFHVV� WR�.DOVKL¶V� HYHQW� FRQWUDFWV� DURXQG�2FWREHU�����

2024, initially focusing on political events like the 2024 U.S. presidential election. 

7KLV�DUUDQJHPHQW�GHYLDWHV�IURP�5RELQKRRG¶V�W\SLFDO�WKLUG-party partnerships, where 

it facilitates all trades and earns revenue through payment for order flow. 

 124. ,Q� FRQWUDVW�� 5RELQKRRG¶V� SDUWQHUVKLS� ZLWK� .DOVKL� LQYROYHV� D� GLUHFW�

revenue-sharing model, with Robinhood earning a $0.01 commission per contract 

traded . Robinhood event contracts (accessed July 1, 2025).23 5RELQKRRG¶V�DELOLW\�WR�

offer event contracts is entirely reliant on Kalshi, as Robinhood itself is not a CFTC-

designated contract market. Unlike its equities, options, or crypto offerings, where 

it does not co-brand with market makers (like Citadel Securities, Virtu, Wintermute, 

or B2C2), Robinhood Derivatives notably co-brands with Kalshi, an exchange, and 

does not coordinate with a market maker to connHFW�XVHUV�WR�.DOVKL¶V�HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV� 

125. 5RELQKRRG� KDV� LQFRUSRUDWHG� .DOVKL¶V� IRXQGDWLRQDO� DQG� UHJXODWRU\�

documents into its platform. These documents specifically include: (1) KalshiEX 

//&¶V�5XOHERRN��9HUVLRQ��������-DQXDU\�����������24 (2) a link to Appendix B of 

the January 22, 2025, self-certification Re: KalshiEX LLC ± CFTC Regulation 

�����D�� 1RWLILFDWLRQ� 5HJDUGLQJ� WKH� ,QLWLDO� /LVWLQJ� RI� WKH� ³:LOO� �WHDP!� ZLn 

�WLWOH!"´&RQWUDFW�25 and (3) a Robinhood Event Contracts Risk Disclosure with a 

link to KalshiE[¶V�5LVN�'LVFORVXUH�26 

126. 5RELQKRRG� XVHUV� DFFHVV� DQG� WUDGH� .DOVKL¶V� HYHQW� FRQWUDFWV� GLUHFWO\�

ZLWKLQ�D�GHGLFDWHG�³SUHGLFWLRQ�PDUNHWV�KXE´�LQ�WKH�5RELQKRRG�DSSOLFDWLRQ¶V�QDWLYH�

LQWHUIDFH��7KLV�LQWHJUDWLRQ�OHYHUDJHV�5RELQKRRG¶V�H[LVWLQJ�XVHU�DFFRXQW�DQG�ZDOOHW�

infrastructure.  

 127. Kalshi expanded its offerings to include sports event contracts, which 

it began self-FHUWLI\LQJ�RQ�-DQXDU\�����������7KURXJK�WKH�&)7&¶V�VHOI-certification 

 
23https://robinhood.com/us/en/support/articles/robinhood-event-contracts/  
24 https://cdn.robinhood.com/assets/robinhood/legal/KalshiEX_LLC_Rulebook.pdf  
25 https://newsroom.aboutrobinhood.com/robinhood-prediction-markets-hub/  
26 https://cdn.robinhood.com/assets/robinhood/legal/Event_Contracts_Risk_Disclosure.pdf  
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process under 17 C.F.R. § 40.2, Kalshi notified the Commission of its intent, 

asserting compliance with the CEA and CFTC regulations. Initial examples included 

TXHVWLRQV� VXFK� DV� ³:LOO� �WHDP!� ZLQ� �WLWOH!"´� IRU� PDMRU� VSRUWV� FKDPSLRQVKLSV��

including the Super Bowl. 

 128. The self-certification states it is CEA compliant but does not mention 

prohibited contracts under 7 U.S.C. § 7a-2(c)(5)(C) or the prohibition against listing 

contracts involving gaming pursuant to 17 C.F.R. § 40.11. See Kalshi Notification 

Regarding the Initial Listing (January 22, 2025).27 

 129. On February 3rd, 2025, Robinhood announced its intention to offer 

HYHQW� FRQWUDFWV� IRU� 6XSHU� %RZO� /,;� XVLQJ� .DOVKL¶V� VHUYLFHV��Robinhood Pauses 

Super Bowl Betting Contracts After Regulator Pushback (February 5, 2025).28 

Robinhood noted these contracts would be limited to roughly 1% of its users. 

Robinhood Receives Formal Request from the CFTC to Roll Back the Pro Football 

Championship Market (February 4, 2025).29 

 130. ,Q�UHVSRQVH�WR�5RELQKRRG¶V�DQG�.DOVKL¶V�SDUWQHUVKLS�IRU�6XSHU�%RZO�

sports event contracts, the CFTC formally requested Robinhood to cease offering 

them. On February 4, 2025, Robinhood announced it was rolling back the event 

contracts, halting bets on the Super Bowl result just one day after launch. Id. 

 131. ,Q� 1HYDGD�� WKH� 1HYDGD� *DPLQJ� &RQWURO� %RDUG� �³1*&%´) issued a 

cease-and-desist letter to Kalshi on March 4, 2025, stating that its sports and election 

outcome contracts were unlawful without state approval. Nevada Gaming Control 

Board, Nevada Gaming Control Board Issues Cease and Desist Order to Company 

Engaged in Unlawful Gaming (March 4, 2025).30 

 
27 https://www.cftc.gov/sites/default/files/filings/ptc/25/01/ptc01222514045.pdf.  
28https://esportsinsider.com/2025/02/robinhood-pauses-super-bowl-betting-contracts-after-
regulators-pushback  
29https://newsroom.aboutrobinhood.com/robinhood-receives-formal-request-from-the-cftc-to-
roll-back-the-pro-football-championship-market/  
30https://gaming.nv.gov/uploadedFiles/gamingnvgov/content/about/press-release/NGCB%20-
%20News%20Release%20-%20KalshiEX%20Cease%20and%20Desist%20Order%20(3-4-
2025).pdf  
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 132. Only a month after pausing its sports event contracts related to Super 

%RZO� /,;�� SXUVXDQW� WR� WKH�&)7&¶V� UHTXHVWV�� 5RELQKRRG� DQQRXQFHG� LWV� UHQHZHG�

partnership with Kalshi to offer these contracts again on March 17, 2025. Robinhood 

Pauses Super Bowl Betting Contracts After Regulator Pushback (February 5, 

2025).31 During the 2025 March Madness tournaments, Kalshi reportedly facilitated 

a trading volume of around $500 million, specifically on tournament-related 

markets. These trades took place in all 50 states and were widely available on 

Robinhood.  

 133. 5RELQKRRG¶V� 0DUFK� ���� ������ DQQRXQFHPHQW� RI� WKH� ODXQFK� RI� LWV�

³3UHGLFWLRQ�0DUNHWV�+XE´� RFFXUUHG� YLD� D� EORJ� SRVW� WLWOHG� ³5RELQKRRG� /DXQFKHV�

3UHGLFWLRQ�0DUNHWV�+XE�´�Robinhood Launches Prediction Markets Hub (March 17, 

2025).32 The blog post stated that this QHZ�KXE�ZRXOG�DOORZ�FXVWRPHUV�WR�³WUDGH�RQ�

WKH�RXWFRPHV�RI�VRPH�RI�WKH�ZRUOG¶V�ELJJHVW�HYHQWV�´�Id. It specified initial contract 

offerings, including those related to the upper bound of the target Fed funds rate in 

0D\�DQG�WKH�XSFRPLQJ�PHQ¶V�DQG�ZRPHQ¶V�&ROOHJH�%DVNHWEDOO�7RXUQDPHQWV��7KH�

SRVW�TXRWHG�-%�0DFNHQ]LH��5RELQKRRG¶V�9LFH�3UHVLGHQW�DQG�*HQHUDO�Manager of 

)XWXUHV�DQG�,QWHUQDWLRQDO��DV�LGHQWLILHG�LQ�WKLV�SRVW��UHJDUGLQJ�WKH�FRPSDQ\¶V�YLHZ�

on prediction markets. Id. )XUWKHUPRUH��LW�FRQWDLQHG�D�GLUHFW�OLQN�WR�³$SSHQGL[�%´�

IURP�.DOVKL¶V� VHOI-certified contract, which had been submitted to the CFTC on 

January 22, 2025. Id. 

134. The March 17, 2025, blog post contained a standard forward-looking 

statement disclaimer: 

This blog post contains forward-looking statements regarding 
5RELQKRRG¶V� H[SHFWDWLRQV�� EHOLHIV�� SODQV�� DQG� SURMHFWLRQV� DERXW� LWV�
business, regulatory environment, and product offerings. These 
statements are based on current assumptions and subject to risks and 
uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from 

 
31https://esportsinsider.com/2025/02/robinhood-pauses-super-bowl-betting-contracts-after-
regulators-pushback  
32 https://newsroom.aboutrobinhood.com/robinhood-prediction-markets-hub/.  
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those anticipated. Such risks include, but are not limited to, regulatory 
developments, market demand, legal challenges, technological 
changes, and economic conditions. Robinhood undertakes no 
obligation to update any forward-looking statements after the date of 
this communication, except as required by law. 

Robinhood Launches Prediction Markets Hub (March 17, 2025).33 

 135. In response to the offering of sports event contracts, particularly those 

related to the March Madness tournament, state gaming regulators took actions to 

assert that these contracts constituted unlicensed sports wagering in violation of their 

respective state laws. 

 136. On March 27, 2025, the New Jersey Division of Gaming Enforcement 

issued cease-and-desist letters to both Kalshi and Robinhood, accusing them of 

unlawfully offering sports wagering in the state and demanding the voiding of placed 

wagers. Letter from Mary Jo Flaherty, Interim Director, New Jersey Division of 

Gaming Enforcement, to Tarek Mansour, CEO, Kalshi (March 27, 2025).34 In 

immediate response, Robinhood promptly ceased allowing New Jersey customers to 

open new positions on March Madness event contracts and implemented geofencing 

to restrict access in other states raising similar concerns. 

 137. Similarly, the Maryland Lottery and Gaming Control Agency issued a 

cease-and-GHVLVW� OHWWHU� WR�.DOVKL� RQ�$SULO� ��� ������ DVVHUWLQJ� WKDW�.DOVKL¶V� VSRUWV-

event contracts constituted illegal sports wagering under Maryland law. Letter from 

John A. Martin, Secretary, Maryland Lottery and Gaming Control Commission, to 

Legal Counsel, Kalshi (April 7, 2025).35 

 138. Kalshi responded to the Nevada Gaming Control Board¶V�FHDVH-and-

desist by filing a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for Nevada on March 28, 2025, 

seeking a temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction to continue its 

 
33 https://newsroom.aboutrobinhood.com/robinhood-prediction-markets-hub/.  
34https://www.nj.gov/oag/ge/docs/EmergencyOrders/Kalshi2025.pdf  
35https://www.mdgaming.com/wp-content/uploads/2025/04/Kalshi-4-7-25.pdf  
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operations. On April 8, 2025, the Nevada court granted Kalshi a temporary 

restraining order against the NGCB. 

 139. Despite initially pursuing the appeal in KalshiEX LLC v. Commodity 

Futures Trading Comm'n, No. CV 23-3257 (JMC), 2024 WL 4164694 (D.D.C. Sept. 

12, 2024), dismissed, No. 24-5205 (D.C. Cir. May 7, 2025), the CFTC later moved 

to voluntarily dismiss its case against Kalshi on May 7, 2025. This action ended its 

legal challenge to the validity of election-based event contracts on public policy 

concerns.  

 140. Kalshi continues to maintain that it is regulated by federal law under 

the CFTC and, therefore, state gambling laws are preempted concerning their sports 

event contracts.  

 141. In addition to New Jersey, Maryland, and Nevada, other states that have 

issued cease-and-desist letters to Kalshi or its partners include Illinois, Ohio, 

Montana, and Arizona. The litigation in Maryland against the Maryland Lottery and 

Gaming Control Commission is ongoing, and the court has notably questioned 

.DOVKL¶V� inFRQVLVWHQW� OHJDO� SRVLWLRQV� UHJDUGLQJ� WKH� ³HFRQRPLF� FRQVHTXHQFH´� RI�

sports outcomes, given its differing arguments in the separate CFTC litigation over 

political event contracts. 

 142. These acts by Kalshi show a pattern and practice through their 

enterprises of racketeering activity in violation of RICO. 

 FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. §§ 2701±2721) 

 143. The Tribes reallege each of the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 

through 142 above and by this reference incorporate each allegation as if set forth 

herein in full. 

 144. Gambling in Indian country is criminally prohibited by federal statute, 

except gaming conducted by a federally recognized Indian tribe in accordance with 

the IGRA. 18 U.S.C. §1166. 
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 145. IGRA established a statutory framework for the regulation of Indian 

gaming that expressly pre-empts the field of governance of gaming activities on 

Indian lands. Gaming Corp. of Am. v. Dorsey & Whitney, 88 F.3d 536, 543±44 (8th 

Cir. 1996). 

 146. Under IGRA, in order for class III gaming to be conducted on Indian 

lands: (1) the tribe must have adopted a tribal ordinance that authorizes the playing 

of the class III games and the ordinance must have been approved by the Chairman 

RI�WKH�1DWLRQDO�,QGLDQ�*DPLQJ�&RPPLVVLRQ��³1,*&´���D�IHGHUDO�UHJXODWRU\�DJHQF\�

created under IGRA; (2) the state in which the class III gaming will be conducted 

PXVW�³SHUPLW´�VXFK�JDPLQJ�IRU�DQ\�SXUSRVH�E\�DQ\�SHUVRQ��RUJDQL]DWLRQ��RU�HQWLW\��

and (3) the class III gaming must be conducted in conformance with a Tribal-State 

compact entered into by the Indian tribe and the state, pursuant to IGRA. 25 U.S.C. 

§ 2710(d)(1). 

 147. In order to go into effect, a tribal-state class III gaming compact must 

be approved by the Secretary, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(A), or deemed approved by 

operation of law, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(8)(C), and notice of approval must be 

published in the Federal Register. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(3)(B). 

 148. )HGHUDO�UHJXODWLRQV�WKDW�LPSOHPHQW�,*5$�GHILQH�³JDPLQJ�DFWLYLW\´�RU�

³JDPLQJ�DFWLYLWLHV´�DV�³WKH�FRQGXFW�RI�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�LQYROYLQJ�WKH�WKUHH�UHTXLUHG�

HOHPHQWV�RI�FKDQFH��FRQVLGHUDWLRQ��DQG�SUL]H�RU�UHZDUG�´����&�)�5����������G�� 

 149. Federal regulations that implement IGRA state that class III gaming 

LQFOXGHV�³>D@Q\�VSRUWV�EHWWLQJ�DQG�SDULPXWXHO�ZDJHULQJ�LQFOXGLQJ�EXW�QRW�OLPLWHG�WR�

ZDJHULQJ�RQ�KRUVH�UDFLQJ��GRJ�UDFLQJ�RU�MDL�DODL�´�����&�)�5����������F�� 

 150. Kalshi and Robinhood are not federally-recognized Indian tribes 

conducting class III gaming activity pursuant to a Tribal-State Compact, 25 U.S.C. 

§§ 2710(d)(1)±(2), or Secretarial Procedures. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(B)(vii). 

 151. Through self-regulation, Kalshi has offered sports event contracts that 

are explicitly prohibited under 17 C.F.R. § 40.11(a)(1), and Kalshi has admitted that 
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the subject matter of those contracts constitutes gaming.  

152. .DOVKL¶V�VHOI-certifications of its sports event contracts, pursuant to 17 

C.F.R. § 40.2, are defective because the submissions fail to adequately address CEA 

compliance issues and establish that the prohibited contracts are nevertheless CEA 

compliant and are, therefore, not contrary to the public interest.  

153. Kalshi has an adequate, available remedy for explicit CFTC approval 

under 17 C.F.R. § 40.3, but has chosen not to avail itself of CFTC approval.  

154. .DOVKL¶V�FRQWUDFWV�IDOO�RXWVLGH�WKH�SHUPLVVLEOH�VFRSH�RI�WKH�&($�DQG��

therefore, constitute unlawful gambling in Indian country under 18 U.S.C. § 1166, 

because the Kalshi app may currently be accessed for the purpose of staking 

something of value (consideration), on a sports event involving the element of 

chance, for the purposes of receiving a reward based on the outcome of the event, 

consistent with the definition of class III gaming activity in 25 C.F.R. § 293.2(d), 

from locations in Indian country, as defined by IGRA, 25 U.S.C. §§ 2703(4)(A)-(B). 

155. As a result, any person over the age of eighteen with a cell phone, tablet, 

or computer can access the Kalshi app and engage in unlawful gambling on Indian 

lands. 

156. Kalshi has not implemented any mechanism, such as geo-location and 

geo-fencing, that would prevent any person or entity from engaging in sports betting 

XVLQJ�WKH�.DOVKL�DSS�RQ�WKH�7ULEHV¶�,QGLDQ�ODQGV� 

157. ,*5$�HVWDEOLVKHV�D�ULJKW�RI�DFWLRQ�E\�DQ�³,QGLDQ�WULEH to enjoin a class 

III gaming activity located on Indian lands and conducted in violation of any Tribal-

State compact >RU�6HFUHWDULDO�3URFHGXUHV@�HQWHUHG� LQWR� �� �� �� WKDW� LV� LQ�HIIHFW�´�RYHU�

ZKLFK�WKH�³8QLWHG�6WDWHV�GLVWULFW�FRXUWV�VKDOO�KDYH�MXULVGLFWLRQ��� �� �� �´����8�6�&����

2710(d)(7)(A)(ii).  

158. An actual case or controversy exists between the Tribes and Kalshi, in 

WKDW�WKH�7ULEHV�DVVHUW�WKDW�.DOVKL�LV�FRQGXFWLQJ�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�RQ�WKH�7ULEHV¶�,QGLDQ�

ODQGV�DQG�VXFK�FRQGXFW�YLRODWHV�WKH�7ULEHV¶�WULEDO�VWDWH�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�FRPSDFWV�
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and federal and state law, while Kalshi contends that its activities do not constitute 

gaming and, therefore, do not violate IGRA.  

 WHEREFORE, the Tribes pray as hereinafter set forth below. 

SECOND  CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of the Tribes Gaming Ordinances) 

 159. The Tribes reallege each of the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 

through 158 above and by this reference incorporate each allegation as if set forth 

herein in full. 

 160. The Tribes are sovereign governmental entities that exercise inherent 

powers of self-government with the jurisdiction and authority to enact their own laws 

and enforce those laws against both Indians and non-Indians engaging in activities 

on their Reservations. United States v. Wheeler, 435 U.S. 313, 323 (1978); Water 

Wheel v. LaRance, 642 F. 3d 802 (9th Cir. 2011). 

 161. In enacting the IGRA, Congress expressly granted Indian tribes the 

right to regulate gaming activities on their respective Reservations through the 

enactment of tribal gaming Ordinances that would become effective upon the 

approval of those Ordinances by the Chairman of the NIGC. 25 U.S.C. § 2710(b) 

and  § 2710(d). 

 162. Pursuant to the IGRA and their inherent sovereign authority, each of 

the Tribes have enacted gaming Ordinances comprehensively regulating all gaming 

activities on their Reservations. The enactment of the gaming Ordinances was not 

RQO\�DQ�H[HUFLVH�RI�WKH�7ULEHV¶�RZQ�LQKHUHQW�VRYHUHLJQ�DXWKRULW\�EXW�DOVR�DQ�H[HUFLVH�

of Congressionally delegated authority granted to the Tribes by Congress with the 

enactment of the IGRA. United States v. Mazuire, 419 U.S. 544 (1975). 

 163.  As such, WKH�7ULEHV¶�JDPLQJ�Ordinances preempt the field of conduct 

that the Tribes define as gaming in their Ordinances, including any other federal or 

state law that conflicts with the express provisions of the Ordinances authorized by 

the IGRA and which also conflicts with the provisions of the CEA. Fisher v. District 
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Court, 424 U.S. 383 (1976). 

 164. Under the Ordinances, Kalshi¶V sports gambling activities meet the 

definition of gaming that is strictly prohibited under the Ordinances. Pursuant to the 

Tribes¶ inherent sovereign authority and congressionally-delegated authority 

granted to the Tribes by IGRA, the Tribes have jurisdiction to enforce the provisions 

of their Ordinances against Kalshi, including prohibiting Kalshi from engaging 

sports betting on their respective Reservation by offering future event contracts. 

WHEREFORE, the Tribes pray as hereinafter set forth below. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Civil RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c)) 

 165. The Tribes reallege each of the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 

through 164 above and by this reference incorporate each allegation as if set forth 

herein in full. 

 166. ���8�6�&���������F��SURYLGHV�WKDW�³>L]t shall be unlawful for any person 

employed by or associated with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which 

affect, interstate or foreign commerce, to conduct or participate, directly or 

LQGLUHFWO\�� LQ� WKH� FRQGXFW� RI� VXFK� HQWHUSULVH¶V� DIIDLUV� through a pattern of 

UDFNHWHHULQJ�DFWLYLW\�RU�FROOHFWLRQ�RI�XQODZIXO�GHEW�´�7KXV��D�prima facie RICO case 

requires that a plaintiff show: ³����FRQGXFW�����RI�DQ�HQWHUSULVH�����WKURXJK�D�SDWWHUQ�

����RI�UDFNHWHHULQJ�DFWLYLW\�´�Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., 473 U.S. 479, 496-97 

(1985). 

 167. Kalshi and Robinhood violated 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) by engaging in the 

acts described in the paragraphs below. At all relevant times, Defendants Kalshi and 

5RELQKRRG�DQG�RWKHU�LQGLYLGXDOV�DQG�HQWLWLHV�QDPHG�KHUHLQ�DUH�³SHUVRQV´�ZLWKLQ�WKH�

meaning of 18 U.S.C. § 1961(3). 

 168. At all relevant times, Kalshi was DVVRFLDWHG�ZLWK�DQ�³(QWHUSULVH´�ZLWKLQ�

WKH�PHDQLQJ�RI����8�6�&�������������DQG������F���7KLV�(QWHUSULVH��WKH�³*DPLQJ�

5DFNHW´�� LV�DQ�³DVVRFLDWLRQ-in-IDFW´�FRQVLVWLQJ�RI�.DOVKL��5RELQKRRG��DQG�YDULRXV�
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individual officers, directors, agents, and/or employees of these entities who 

NQRZLQJO\�SDUWLFLSDWHG�LQ�WKH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW¶V�DIIDLUV� 

 169. An association-in-fact enterprise must have at least three structural 

features: a purpose, relationships among those associated with the enterprise, and 

ORQJHYLW\� VXIILFLHQW� WR�SHUPLW� WKHVH�DVVRFLDWHV� WR�SXUVXH� WKH�HQWHUSULVH¶V�SXUSRVH��

Boyle v. United States, 556 U.S. 938, 946 (2009). Such a group need not have a 

KLHUDUFKLFDO�VWUXFWXUH�RU�D�³FKDLQ�RI�FRPPDQG´�DQG�GHFLVLRQV�PD\�EH�PDGH�RQ�DQ�DG�

hoc basis and by any number of methods²by majority vote, consensus, a show of 

strength, etc. Id. at 948. Members of the group need not have fixed roles; different 

members may perform different roles at different times. Id. The group need not have 

a name, regular meetings, dues, established rules and regulations, disciplinary 

procedures, or induction or initiation ceremonies. Id. 

 170. This Gaming Racket was formed and functions with a common 

purpose: to design, market, distribute, and widely disseminate event contracts based 

RQ�VSRUWV�RXWFRPHV��³JDPLQJ�FRQWUDFWV´���DOO�WKH�ZKLOH�FRQVFLRXVO\�GLVUHJDUGLQJ�RU�

actively circumventing prior regulatory concerns and even their own prior stated 

SRVLWLRQV�WKDW�VXFK�FRQWUDFWV�FRQVWLWXWHG�SURKLELWHG�³JDPLQJ�´�7KH�GHFLVLRQ�E\�ERWK�

Kalshi and Robinhood to jointly enter and aggressively expand the market for 

gaming contracts was made with a mutual awareness of the ongoing regulatory 

scrutiny surrounding such products, resulting in shared liability and operational 

interdependence for this specific venture. 

 171. The introduction of this product category represents a new venture for 

the Defendants, which distinguishes this Gaming Racket from their prior business 

operations. 

 172. 3ULRU�WR�WKLV�YHQWXUH��.DOVKL¶V�FRQWUDFW�RIIHULQJV�SULPDULO\�IRFXVHG�RQ�

more conventional event types, such as those tied to economic data releases (e.g., 

inflation rates, unemployment figures), general political outcomes (e.g., election 

results), or other verifiable, non-sporting events. 
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 173. Kalshi self-certified its first sports event contract via the CFTC Portal 

on January 22, 2025. This offering of event contracts on sports outcomes to the 

general public, particularly through a mass-market retail platform like Robinhood, 

involved a significant and deliberate expansion into a product category from its 

previous contract types. 

 174. 5RELQKRRG¶V� LQWHJUDWLRQ�ZLWK�.DOVKL� DOORZV� XVHUV� WR� DFFHVV�.DOVKL¶V�

event contracts directly within the Robinhood app. This constitutes a marked 

GHSDUWXUH� IURP� 5RELQKRRG¶V� WUDGLWLRQDO�� IHGHUDOO\� UHJXODWHG� EURNHUDJH� VHUYLFHV��

which include commission-free trading of stocks, exchange-traded funds, options, 

and cryptocurrency. Robinhood has additionally noted the novelty of these gaming 

contracts in its March 17, 2025, blog post standard forward-looking statement 

disclaimer. See supra ¶ 134. 

 175. 5RELQKRRG¶V� GHSDUWXUH� IURP� LWV� QRUPDO� EXVLQHVV� WR� RIIHU� SURGXFWV�

VROHO\�GHSHQGHQW�RQ�.DOVKL¶V�VSHFLILF�VHOI-certification is also evident in its inclusion 

LQ�LWV�0DUFK�����������EORJ�SRVW�RI�D�GLUHFW�OLQN�WR�$SSHQGL[�%�IURP�.DOVKL¶V�-DQXDU\�

22, 2025, self-certification, which had taken place only weeks prior.  

 176. The coordinated nature of this venture extends to its financial structure, 

as Kalshi and Robinhood engage in revenue sharing on the gaming contracts offered 

through the Robinhood platform. This arrangement demonstrates a shared financial 

interest in the success and widespread dissemination of these gaming contracts, 

GLUHFWO\�VHUYLQJ�WKH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW¶V�FRPPRQ�SXUSRVH�WR�GHVLJQ��PDUNHW��GLVWULEXWH��

and widely disseminate these contracts based on sports outcomes. 

 177. The Gaming Racket functions as a continuing unit with ongoing 

relationships and a discernible structure, where the actions undertaken are on behalf 

RI�WKH�HQWHUSULVH¶V�MRLQW�LQWHUHVWV��QRW�PHUHO\�WKH�LQGLYLGXDO�FDSDFLWLHV�RI�.DOVKL�DQG�

Robinhood. 

 178. The operational design of the Gaming Racket ensures a seamless user 

H[SHULHQFH��ZLWK�5RELQKRRG�XVHUV� DFFHVVLQJ� DQG� WUDGLQJ�.DOVKL¶V� HYHQW� FRQWUDFWV�
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GLUHFWO\�ZLWKLQ�D�GHGLFDWHG�³SUHGLFWLRQ�PDUNHWV�KXE´�LQ�WKH�5RELQKRRG�DSSOLFDWLRQ¶V�

QDWLYH� LQWHUIDFH�� 7KLV� OHYHUDJHV� 5RELQKRRG¶V� H[LVWLQJ� XVHU� DFFRXQW� DQG� ZDOOHW�

infrastructure. This technical integration, requiring dedicated resources from 

Robinhood for development and ongoing maintenance, demonstrates a specific, 

shared, and continuous investment in the functional operability and success of this 

new venture. 

 179. Robinhood¶V arrangement here differs from its typical third-party 

partnerships, where it facilitates all trades and earns revenue through payment for 

RUGHU�IORZ�E\�URXWLQJ�RUGHUV�WR�PDUNHW�PDNHUV��,Q�FRQWUDVW��5RELQKRRG¶V�SDUWQHUVKLS�

with Kalshi involves a direct revenue-sharing model where Robinhood earns a $0.01 

FRPPLVVLRQ�SHU�FRQWUDFW�WUDGHG��7KLV�IXUWKHU�HVWDEOLVKHV�5RELQKRRG¶V�ILQDQFLDO�VWDNH�

in facilitating an ongoing relationship with Kalshi. 

 180. Evidencing a continuous structure, Robinhood has incorporated 

.DOVKL¶V� IRXQGDWLRQDO� DQG� UHJXODWRU\� GRFXPHQWV� LQWR� LWV� SODWIRUP�� GHPRQVWUDWLQJ�

operational and regulatory integration. This indicates direct inter-company 

LQYROYHPHQW� DQG� VKDUHG� UHVSRQVLELOLW\� IRU� WKH� *DPLQJ� 5DFNHW¶V� SURGXFWV� DQd 

compliance framework, moving beyond standard commercial dealings. See supra ¶ 

125.  

 181. 7KH� *DPLQJ� 5DFNHW¶V� FXUUHQW� VKDUHG� OHJDO� H[SRVXUH� additionally 

reinforces its continuous structure. This shared legal burden necessitates a unified 

defense strategy, compelling ongoing collaboration between the two entities and 

UHLQIRUFLQJ� WKHLU� FRPPLWPHQW� WR� WKH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW¶V�REMHFWLYHV�GHVSLWH�H[WHUQDO�

challenges. 

 182. This shared legal challenge reveals a coordinated, albeit differentiated, 

strategic response by the Gaming Racket that underscores its continuity and lack of 

5RELQKRRG¶V�GLVHQJDJHPHQW� IURP� WKH�HQWHUSULVH�� ,Q� VHYHUDO� LQVWDQFHV�ZKHUH� VWDWH�

authorities issued cease and desist orders or declared gaming contracts illegal, 

Robinhood, functioning in its operational capacity for the enterprise, implemented 
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geofencing technology in states such as New Jersey. This operational measure 

served to restrict access to the gaming contracts for users within those specified 

jurisdictions, while crucially continuing to offer these same gaming contracts to 

users in other states through Kalshi, which also collects geolocation data, thereby 

GHPRQVWUDWLQJ�WKH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW¶V�RQJRLQJ�FRPPLWPHQW�DQG�LWV�RSHUDWLRQ�DFURVV�

varied regulatory landscapes. 

 183. Concurrently, and as a complementary component of the Gaming 

5DFNHW¶V� RYHUDOO� VWUDWHJ\��.DOVKL�� LQ� LWV� FDSDFLW\� DV� WKH�'&0�� HOHFWHG� WR� GLUHFWO\�

confront these cease-and-desist letters through legal proceedings. This included 

initiating lawsuits against state regulators to assert federal preemption or challenge 

the legality of state actions. This distinct legal posture by Kalshi, while Robinhood 

managed operational access, demonstrates a deliberate division of labor within the 

enterprise. 

 184. These differing, yet congruent, responses underscore a unified strategic 

commitment by the Gaming Racket to ensure the widespread dissemination of 

gaming contracts while addressing specific legal impediments. The deployment of 

operational restrictions by one member and direct legal challenges by another 

illustrates the adaptability and concerted efforts of the Gaming Racket to overcome 

obstacles to its common purpose, with Robinhood maintaining its integral role in the 

venture rather than disengaging from the enterprise. 

 185. The longevity of the Gaming Racket is evidenced by its persistent and 

adaptive efforts to establish and expand the offering of these new, controversial 

gaming contracts despite recurring regulatory challenges, indicating a sustained 

commitment to its common purpose. The strategic actions by Kalshi regarding self-

certification and the subsequent strategic reengagement and March relaunch, 

indicate that the Gaming Racket adapted and continued its pursuit of its objective 

for this product line. 

 186. $� ³SDWWHUQ´� RI� UDFNHWHHULQJ� DFWLYLW\� UHTXLUHV� SURRI� RI� ³DW� OHDVW� WZR�
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>SUHGLFDWH@� DFWV� RI� UDFNHWHHULQJ� DFWLYLW\´� ZLWKLQ� WHQ� \HDUV� RI� HDFK� RWKHU�� 6HH� ���

U.S.C. § 1961(5). Racketeering activity consists of the commission of a predicate 

act, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1). See Sedima, S.P.R.L. v. Imrex Co., Inc., 473 

U.S. 479, 495 (1985). 

 187. Through this Gaming Racket, Defendants Kalshi and Robinhood 

GLUHFWO\�DQG�LQGLUHFWO\�FRQGXFWHG�DQG�HQJDJHG�LQ�WKH�HQWHUSULVH¶V�DFWLYLWLHV�WKURXJK�

a pattern of racketeering activity, as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1). Specifically, 

the Gaming Racket has: (1) engaged in wire fraud as prohibited by 18 U.S.C. § 1343, 

(2) transmitted wagering information as prohibited by 18 U.S.C. § 1084, (3) and 

operated an illegal gambling business as prohibited by 18 U.S.C. § 1955. 

 188. 18 U.S.C. § 1343 requires proof of: (1) a scheme to defraud; (2) the use 

of interstate wire communications in furtherance of the scheme; and (3) that the 

defendants acted with the specific intent to deceive or defraud. United States v. 

Bonallo, 858 F.2d 1427, 1433 (9th Cir. 1988). Specific intent to defraud may be 

established by circumstantial evidence and by inferences drawn from the scheme 

itself, particularly if the scheme was reasonably calculated to deceive. Manta v. 

Chertoff, 518 F.3d 1134, 1142 (9th Cir. 2008). 

 189. A scheme to defraud by false representations may be accomplished by 

making patently false statements or statements with a reckless indifference as to their 

truth or falsity, and deceitful concealment of material facts may constitute actual 

fraud. Gusow v. United States������)��G�������������WK�&LU���������³(YHQ�WKRXJK�D�

defendant may firmly believe in his plan, his belief will not justify baseless or 

UHFNOHVV�UHSUHVHQWDWLRQV�´�United States v. Cochran, 109 F.3d 660, 665 (10th Cir. 

1997). 

 190. The scheme to defraud involved the systematic misrepresentation of 

unlawful gaming contracts as legitimate commodity contracts tradable on a CFTC-

regulated exchange, in direct conflict with the CEA and CFTC regulations 

thereunder, particularly the explicit prohibition against transactions that involve 
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³JDPLQJ�´�See 7 U.S.C. § 7a-2(c)(5)(C); 17 C.F.R. § 40.11. 

 191. %HJLQQLQJ�LQ�)HEUXDU\�������WKH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW��WKURXJK�5RELQKRRG¶V�

platform and its integrated payment systems) has continuously used interstate wire 

communications to electronically collect deposits from users, process orders for 

gaming contracts, facilitate trades, and manage withdrawals of funds. Each such 

instance of financial transfer has been conducted under the false pretense that it 

relates to legitimate commodity transactions stemming from valid self-certifications, 

rather than unlawful gaming contracts that violate the CEA (specifically 7 U.S.C. § 

7a-��F�����&��SURKLELWLQJ�³JDPLQJ´��DQG�&)7&�5HJXODWLRQV��LQFOXGLQJ����&�)�5����

������ SURKLELWLQJ� FRQWUDFWV� LQYROYLQJ� ³JDPLQJ�´� DQG� LQ� FRQWUDYHQWLRQ� RI� WKH�

requirements of 17 C.F.R. § 40.2 regarding proper self-certification). 

 192. .DOVKL¶V� ��� &�)�5�� �� ����� VHOI-certification presented these gaming 

contracts as CEA-compliant, despite a demonstrable insufficiency in establishing 

FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�&($¶V�SURYLVLRQV�DJDLQVW�JDPLQJ��VSHFLILFDOO\���8�6�&�����D-

2(c)(5)(C) and 17 C.F.R. § 40.11. This assertion of compliance for contracts tied 

directly to sports outcomes, coupled with the lack of detailed analysis and supporting 

documentation explicitly required by 17 C.F.R. § 40.2, indicates a disregard for 

relevant facts and applicable CFTC regulations. This position stands in stark contrast 

WR�.DOVKL¶V�RZQ�SULRU�VWDWHPHQWV��ZKLFK�SUHYLRXVO\�VXJJHVWHG�RU�DFNQRZOHGJHG�WKDW�

VXFK�³VSRUWV�HYHQWV´�FRQWUDFWV�IDOO�ZLWKLQ�WKH�GHILQLWLRQ�RI�³JDPLQJ´�XQGHU����&�)�5��

§ 40.11, thereby being subject to prohibition under Section 40.11(a)(1). 

 193. Kalshi notably self-certified the January 22, 2025, contract within a 

week of stating that similar sports events contracts constituted gaming, representing 

a rapid and contradictory shift in its compliance posture without apparent new legal 

justification. 

 194. As a key act in furtherance of this scheme, in its March 17, 2025, press 

UHOHDVH��5RELQKRRG�LQFOXGHG�D�OLQN�WR�.DOVKL¶V�-DQXDU\�����������VHOI-certification 

filing with the CFTC and specifically directed users to Appendix B of that filing on 
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LWV�ZHEVLWH��%\�GLUHFWO\�GLVVHPLQDWLQJ�.DOVKL¶V�LQVXIILFLHQW�FRPSOLDQFH�MXVWLILFDWLRQ��

Robinhood actively facilitated the widespread rollout of these mischaracterized 

contracts to its extensive user base. 

 195. 'HIHQGDQW� 5RELQKRRG� 'HULYDWLYHV�� DV� DQ� )&0� DQG� D� ³&RPPLVVLRQ�

UHJLVWUDQW´�XQGHU����&)5����������ZDV�VWDWXWRULO\�REOLJDWHG�WR�GLOLJHQWO\�VXSHUYLVH��

the activities of its partners, officers, employees, and agents in relation to the 

legitimacy and regulatory compliance of the products it makes available to its 

FXVWRPHUV��5RELQKRRG¶V�DFWLRQV�LQGLFDWH�DQ�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ��RU�D�GLVUHJDUG�RI�UHDGLO\�

DYDLODEOH�LQIRUPDWLRQ��WKDW�.DOVKL¶V����&�)�5���������VHOI-certification for its gaming 

contracts was insufficient WR�HVWDEOLVK�LWV�FRPSOLDQFH�ZLWK�WKH�&($¶V�SURKLELWLRQ�RQ�

unlawful gaming. 

 196. 5RELQKRRG¶V� RZQ� SULRU� LQWHUQDO� DFWLRQV� �H�J��� LWV� GHFLVLRQ� WR� SXOO�

specific sports-related contracts from its platform, such as those related to the Super 

Bowl or NCAA March Madness, in certain jurisdictions due to regulatory concerns) 

and documented external communications or internal analyses previously 

DFNQRZOHGJLQJ� WKH� UHJXODWRU\�FRQIOLFWV�RU� WKH�³JDPLQJ´�QDWXUH�RI�VXFK�FRQWUDFWV��

further illustrate its awareness of the regulatory conflicts under the CEA and CFTC 

rules. By permitting its partners, officers, employees, and agents to promote and 

IDFLOLWDWH�WUDGLQJ�LQ�WKHVH�FRQWUDFWV��5RELQKRRG¶V�FRQGXFW�LQGLFDWHV�DQ�LQWHQWLRQ�WR�

present these impermissible contracts as legitimate commodity interests, leading to 

investor engagement based on a fundamental mischaracterization that generated 

profits for Robinhood. 

 197. 18 U.S.C. §1084(a) states that whoever: engages in the business of 

betting or wagering and knowingly uses a wire communication in interstate or 

foreign commerce to transmit bets, wagers, or information assisting in placing bets 

RU�ZDJHUV�³VKDOO�EH�ILQHG�XQGHU�WKLV�WLWOH�RU�LPSULVRQHG�QRW�PRUH�Whan two years, or 

ERWK�´ 

 198. 18 U.S.C. §1084(b), as an exception to Part (a), states:  
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Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent the transmission in 
interstate or foreign commerce of information for use in news reporting 
of sporting events or contests, or for the transmission of information 
assisting in the placing of bets or wagers on a sporting event or contest 
from a State or foreign country where betting on that sporting event or 
contest is legal into a State or foreign country in which such betting is 
legal. 

 199. Defendants, by and through the Gaming Racket described herein, have 

knowingly used a wire communication facility for the transmission in interstate and 

foreign commerce of bets or wagers, or information assisting in the placing of bets 

or wagers, on sporting events or contests, or for the transmission of money or credits 

in connection therewith, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1084. 

 200. The sports gaming contracts designed, marketed, and widely 

GLVVHPLQDWHG�E\�WKH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW�FRQVWLWXWH�³EHWV�RU�ZDJHUV´�ZLWKLQ�WKH�PHDQLQJ�

of 18 U.S.C. § 1084. These contracts offer binary choices tied to the outcome of 

sporting contests such as the Super Bowl and NCAA March Madness tournaments. 

&XVWRPHUV�EX\�³<HV´�RU�³1R´�SRVLWLRQV��ZLWK�D�IL[HG�SD\RXW�RI�����PLQXV�IHHV��IRU�

a correct prediction and expiration at $0 for an incorrect one, aligning with the 

characteristics of a wager. 

 201. 7KH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW��WKURXJK�LWV�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�³SUHGLFWLRQ�PDUNHWV�

KXE´�ZLWKLQ�WKH�5RELQKRRG�PRELOH�DSSOLFDWLRQ�DQG�ZHE�SODWIRUP��NQRZLQJO\�XWLOL]HV�

wire communication facilities. These platforms serve as the primary means by which 

users interact with and place positions on the gaming contracts. The transmissions 

RFFXU�LQ�³LQWHUVWDWH�FRPPHUFH´�GXH�WR�5RELQKRRG¶V�QDWLRQZLGH�UHDFK�DQG�WKH�IDFW�

that users in various states access and engage with the prediction markets hub and 

associated contracts. RobinKRRG¶V� PRELOH� DSSOLFDWLRQ� DQG� ZHE� SODWIRUP� DUH�

employed to transmit: 
a. EHWV� RU�ZDJHUV�� E\� IDFLOLWDWLQJ� WKH� SODFLQJ� RI� RUGHUV� IRU� ³<HV´� RU� ³1R´�

positions on gaming contracts. 
b. information assisting in the placing of bets or wagers, including real-time 

pricing and probability information for these contracts, and marketing and 
promotional materials for gaming contracts to users across state lines. 
These transmissions explicitly coQFHUQ� ³VSRUWLQJ� HYHQWV� RU� FRQWHVWV�´�
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including but not limited to the Super Bowl and NCAA March Madness 
tournaments, as explicitly marketed and offered by the Defendants. 

c. money or credits in connection therewith, by processing the transmission 
of funds related to the funding of accounts for these contracts and the 
distribution of payouts upon resolution. 

d. direct communication channels for users to monitor the status and 
outcomes of their sports-related positions. 

 202. In California, sports betting is not legal. Its prohibition is established 

by California Penal Code § 337a, which criminalizes various forms of bookmaking 

and wagering. Therefore, 18 U.S.C. §1084(b) is inapplicable.  

 203. Under 18 U.S.C. § 1955(a), whoever conducts, finances, manages, 

supervises, directs, or owns all or part of an illegal gambling business can be held 

liable for violating this section. Section 1955(b)(4) establishes a non-exclusive and 

EURDG�OLVW�RI�ZKDW�TXDOLILHV�DV�³JDPEOLQJ�´ 

 204. $Q�³LOOHJDO�JDPEOLQJ�EXVLQHVV´�XQGHU�6HFWLRQ������E�����TXDOLILHV�DV�D�

business which: (1) violates state or local law; (2)  involves five or more people who 

conduct, finance, manage, supervise, direct, or own all or part of the business; and 

(3)  has been or remains in substantially continuous operation for more than 30 days 

or had a gross revenue of $2,000 in any single day.  

 205. Defendants, by and through the Gaming Racket described herein, have 

knowingly conducted, financed, managed, supervised, directed, or owned all or part 

of an illegal gambling business, as defined by 18 U.S.C. § 1955, that violates 

California Penal Code § 337a, which prohibits various forms of bookmaking and 

wagering including sportsbook.  

 206. The following constitute relevant offenses under California Penal Code 

§ 337a: 

a. 3RRO�VHOOLQJ�RU�ERRNPDNLQJ��ZLWK�RU�ZLWKRXW�ZULWLQJ��DW�DQ\�WLPH�RU�SODFH��
&DO��3HQDO�&RGH������D����� 

b. :KHWKHU� IRU� JDLQ�� KLUH�� UHZDUG�� RU� JUDWXLWRXVO\�� RU� RWKHUZLVH�� NHHSV� RU�
RFFXSLHV�� IRU�DQ\�SHULRG�RI� WLPH�ZKDWVRHYHU��DQ\�URRP��VKHG�� WHQHPHQW��
WHQW��ERRWK��EXLOGLQJ��IORDW��YHVVHO��SODFH��VWDQG�RU�HQFORVXUH��RI�DQ\�NLQG��
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RU� DQ\� SDUW� WKHUHRI�� ZLWK� D� ERRN� RU� ERRNV�� SDSHU� RU� SDSHUV�� DSSDUDWXV��
GHYLFH�RU�SDUDSKHUQDOLD��IRU�WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�UHFRUGLQJ�RU�UHJLVWHULQJ�DQ\�EHW�
RU�EHWV��DQ\�SXUSRUWHG�EHW�RU�EHWV��ZDJHU�RU�ZDJHUV��DQ\�SXUSRUWHG�ZDJHU�
RU�ZDJHUV��VHOOLQJ�SRROV��RU�SXUSRUWHG�SRROV��XSRQ�WKH�UHVXOW��RU�SXUSRUWHG�
UHVXOW��RI�DQ\�WULDO��SXUSRUWHG�WULDO��FRQWHVW��RU�SXUSRUWHG�FRQWHVW��RI�VNLOO��
VSHHG� RU� SRZHU� RI� HQGXUDQFH� RI� SHUVRQ� RU� DQLPDO�� RU� EHWZHHQ� SHUVRQV��
DQLPDOV��RU�PHFKDQLFDO�DSSDUDWXV��RU�XSRQ�WKH�UHVXOW��RU�SXUSRUWHG�UHVXOW��
RI�DQ\�ORW��FKDQFH��FDVXDOW\��XQNQRZQ�RU�FRQWLQJHQW�HYHQW�ZKDWVRHYHU��&DO��
3HQDO�&RGH������D���� 

c. :KHWKHU� IRU� JDLQ�� KLUH�� UHZDUG�� RU� JUDWXLWRXVO\�� RU� RWKHUZLVH�� UHFHLYHV��
KROGV��RU�IRUZDUGV��RU�SXUSRUWV�RU�SUHWHQGV�WR�UHFHLYH��KROG��RU�IRUZDUG��LQ�
DQ\�PDQQHU�ZKDWVRHYHU��DQ\�PRQH\��WKLQJ�RU�FRQVLGHUDWLRQ�RI�YDOXH��RU�WKH�
HTXLYDOHQW�RU�PHPRUDQGXP�WKHUHRI��VWDNHG��SOHGJHG��EHW�RU�ZDJHUHG��RU�WR�
EH� VWDNHG��SOHGJHG��EHW�RU�ZDJHUHG��RU�RIIHUHG� IRU� WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�EHLQJ�
VWDNHG��SOHGJHG��EHW�RU�ZDJHUHG��XSRQ�WKH�UHVXOW��RU�SXUSRUWHG�UHVXOW��RI�DQ\�
WULDO��RU�SXUSRUWHG�WULDO��RU�FRQWHVW��RU�SXUSRUWHG�FRQWHVW��RI�VNLOO��VSHHG�RU�
SRZHU�RI�HQGXUDQFH�RI�SHUVRQ�RU�DQLPDO��RU�EHWZHHQ�SHUVRQV��DQLPDOV��RU�
PHFKDQLFDO�DSSDUDWXV��RU�XSRQ�WKH�UHVXOW��RU�SXUSRUWHG�UHVXOW��RI�DQ\�ORW��
FKDQFH�� FDVXDOW\�� XQNQRZQ� RU� FRQWLQJHQW� HYHQW� ZKDWVRHYHU�� &DO�� 3HQDO�
&RGH������D���� 

207. The Gaming Racket designs, markets, and distributes these gaming 

contracts. In doing so, the Gaming Racket engages in pool selling and bookmaking 

as identified in Cal. Penal Code § 337a(1). Bookmaking, at its core, involves the 

business of receiving, recording, and accepting bets on the outcome of a contest. The 

³<HV´�RU�³1R´�SRVLWLRQV�RIIHUHG�E\�WKH�*DPLQJ�5DFket on sports events function as 

direct wagers on specific outcomes. The Gaming Racket acts as a central party in 

facilitating these wagers, accepting funds from participants, and distributing payout 

based on the result of the sports event. Additionally, the collection of funds from 

SDUWLFLSDQWV�FUHDWHV�D�SRRO�RI�PRQH\�WKDW�LV�WKHQ�UHGLVWULEXWHG�EDVHG�RQ�WKH�HYHQW¶V�

outcome, which is characteristic of illegal pool selling. These activities are precisely 

the type of wagers or bets that the statute aims to prohibit, irrespective of any 

SXUSRUWHG�³PDUNHW´�RU�³H[FKDQJH´�IUDPLQJ�� 

208. 7KH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW�� WKURXJK�WKH�RSHUDWLRQ�RI�5RELQKRRG¶V�SODWIRUP��
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NHHSV�RU�RFFXSLHV�D�³SODFH´�IRU�WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�UHFRUGLQJ��UHJLVWHULQJ��DQG�RWKHUZLVH�

facilitating these unlawful wagers, in contravention of Cal. Penal Code § 337a(2). 

.DOVKL� DQG� 5RELQKRRG¶V� GLJLWDO� LQWHUIDFHV�� DFFHVVLEOH� E\� users in California, 

including on Indian reservations, serves as the virtual device where bets on the 

results of contests involving RI� ³VNLOO�� VSHHG�RU�SRZHU�RI� HQGXUDQFH�RI�SHUVRQ�RU�

DQLPDO�� RU� EHWZHHQ� SHUVRQV�� DQLPDOV�� RU�PHFKDQLFDO� DSSDUDWXV´� DUH� FRQWLQXRXVO\�

processed and managed.  

209. The Gaming Racket receives, holds, and forwards monies staked or 

wagered on the results of these sporting events in violation of Cal. Penal Code § 

337a(3). Users deposit funds with Kalshi and Robinhood for the express purpose of 

purchasing these gaming contracts, which relate to contests of ³VNLOO��VSHHG�RU�SRZHU�

of endurance of person or animal, or between persons, animals, or mechanical 

DSSDUDWXV�´�7KHVH�IXQGV�DUH�WKHQ�KHOG�DQG�PDQDJHG�E\�WKH�*DPLQJ�5DFNHW��7KH�IHHV�

charged on these transactions furtKHU�DOLJQ�ZLWK�WKH�³IRU�JDLQ´�ODQJXDJH�ZLWKLQ�Cal. 

Penal Code § 337a(3).  

 210. The Gaming Racket involves five or more persons who conduct, 

finance, manage, supervise, direct, or own all or part of such business. These persons 

include, but are not limited to, Kalshi and Robinhood, their respective executives, 

officers, and employees responsible for the development, self-certification, 

PDUNHWLQJ��SODWIRUP�LQWHJUDWLRQ��DQG�ILQDQFLDO�RSHUDWLRQV�RI�WKH�³SUHGLFWLRQ�PDUNHWV�

KXE´�DQG�WKH�JDPLQJ�FRQWUDFWV� 

 211. The illegal gambling business has been and remains in substantially 

continuous operation for a period in excess of 30 days, and/or has a gross revenue 

of $2,000 in any single day. The substantial volume of trades generating direct, 

shared revenue for the Gaming Racket through transaction fees on an ongoing basis 

since at least February 2025 demonstrates both a substantially continuous operation 

and daily gross revenues far exceeding the statutory threshold. 
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212. As Federally recognized Indian Tribes holding the exclusive right to 

conduct Class III gaming within the State of California, the Tribes have suffered 

direct and substantial injury to their business by reason of Defendants¶ violations of  

18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). The Gaming 5DFNHW¶V�V\VWHPDWLF�HQJDJHPHQW�LQ�D�SDWWHUQ�RI�

racketeering activity, encompassing wire fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1343), the transmission 

of wagering information (18 U.S.C. § 1084), and the operation of an illegal gambling 

business (18 U.S.C. § 1955) encroaches upon and usurps the Tribes¶ exclusive 

market. By conducting these unlawful activities, Defendants have impermissibly 

diverted revenue that, by law and compact, belongs exclusively to the Plaintiffs. This 

direct competition from the Gaming Racket, enabled and sustained by these 

prohibited racketeering acts, has caused the Tribes to suffer concrete and 

quantifiable injuries in the form of significant lost profits and diminished market 

share to their established and legally protected businesses. 

 213. An actual case or controversy exists between the Tribes, Kalshi, and 

Robinhood, in that the Tribes assert that Kalshi and Robinhood have engaged in a 

coordinated and systematic pattern of gaming racketeering activity under RICO, 

while Kalshi and Robinhood contend that their coordinated activities comply with 

the CEA and, therefore, do not violate RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c). 

 WHEREFORE, the Tribes pray as hereinafter set forth below. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Infringement of the Tribes¶ Sovereignty and Interference with Tribal Self-
Governance) 

 214. The Tribes reallege each of the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 

through 213 above and by this reference incorporate each allegation as if set forth 

herein in full. 

 215. Kalshi¶s sports gambling activities are being conducted in direct 

violation of the Tribes¶ duly enacted gaming Ordinances, which prohibit sports 

gambling on their Reservations. 

Case 1:25-cv-06162     Document 1     Filed 07/22/25     Page 52 of 71



 

53 
COMPLAINT  

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
 

216.  By engaging in illegal sports gambling in violation of the Tribes¶ 

Ordinances, Kalshi is interfering with and will continue to interfere with the Tribes¶ 

ability to govern themselves, their members, and all persons who work, live, and visit 

their respective Reservations by preventing the Tribes from determining to what 

extent and under what conditions, if any, persons, organizations, and entities can 

engage in class III gaming on their Reservations. 

217.  An actual controversy exists between the Tribes and Kalshi, in that the 

Tribes contend they have the authority to enforce their Ordinances against Kalshi and 

prohibit it from engaging in sports gambling on their Reservations, while Kalshi 

asserts that the Tribes have no such authority.  

218.  .DOVKL¶V�SDVW�DQG�IXWXUH�DFWLRQV�RI�YLRODWLQJ�WKH�7ULEHV¶ Ordinances by 

engaging in sports gambling on the Tribes¶ Reservations impermissibly interferes 

with the ability of the Tribes to govern themselves on their Reservations under their 

own laws. Williams v. Lee, 358 U.S. 217 (1959).  

219.  The Tribes has been irreparably injured by Kalshi¶s unlawful sports 

gambling on their Reservations and unless Kalshi is provisionally and permanently 

restrained and enjoined from engaging in such illegal gambling the Tribes will be 

prevented from governing themselves on their Reservations under their own Tribal 

laws, causing severe and irreparable injury for which the Tribes have no plain, 

speedy, or adequate remedy at law. 

WHEREFORE, the Tribes pray as hereinafter set forth below. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(False Advertising ± Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B)) 

220. The Tribes reallege each of the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 

through 219 above and by this reference incorporate each allegation as if set forth 

herein in full. 

221. The following five elements must be established by a plaintiff in order 

to make out a claim for false or deceptive advertising on the part of a defendant: (1) 
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a false statement of fact by the defendant in a commercial advertisement about its 

own or another's product; (2) the statement actually deceived or has the tendency to 

deceive a substantial segment of its audience; (3) the deception is material, in that it 

is likely to influence the purchasing decision; (4) the defendant caused its false 

statement to enter interstate commerce; and (5) the plaintiff has been or is likely to 

be injured as a result of the false statement, either by direct diversion of sales from 

itself to defendant or by a loss of goodwill associated with its products. Cook, Perkiss 

and Liehe, Inc. v. Northern Cal. Collection Servs., Inc., 911 F.2d 242, 244 (9th Cir. 

1990). 

222. Kalshi has made multiple false and misleading statements of fact 

concerning the legality and nature of its sports event contracts. These include 

VWDWHPHQWV� WR� FRQVXPHUV� WKDW�.DOVKL¶V� VSRUWV� HYHQWV� FRQWUDFWV� DUH� IXOO\� OHJDO� DQG�

accessible nationwide despite the defectiveness of these contracts under 17 C.F.R. 

������.DOVKL�DOVR�UHSHDWHGO\�UHIHUUHG�WR�LWV�VSRUWV�HYHQWV�FRQWUDFWV�DV�³EHWWLQJ�´�7KLV�

LQFOXGHV� VWDWHPHQWV� WKDW� .DOVKL� LV� ³7KH� )LUVW� 1DWLRQZLGH� /HJDO� 6SRUWV� %HWWLQJ�

3ODWIRUP´�DQG�RIIHUV�³6SRUWV�%HWWLQJ�/HJDO�LQ�DOO����6WDWHV�RQ�.DOVKL�´�See supra ¶ 

94. 

223. Kalshi knew, or should have known, that its advertising was false, 

misleading, and deceptive, as numerous online users have expressed concern 

regarding the legality of these contracts. See supra ¶ 100. Kalshi has also continued 

to keep advertisement posts on its social media platforms that refer to these contracts 

as betting. 

224. Each of these false or misleading statements was made in the context 

of a commercial advertisement or promotion, including Instagram advertisement 

posts and Reels, TikTok video product promotions, TV commercials, YouTube 

YLGHRV��;�FRP�SRVWV��DQG�.DOVKL¶V�RZQ�ZHEVLWHV��GLVWULEXWHG�DFURVV�WKH�,QWHUQHW�DQG�

GHVLJQHG� WR� SURPRWH� SXUFKDVLQJ� RI�.DOVKL¶V� VSRUWV� HYHQW� FRQWUDFWV� WR� FRQVXPHUV�

nationwide.  

Case 1:25-cv-06162     Document 1     Filed 07/22/25     Page 54 of 71



 

55 
COMPLAINT  

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
 

225. Statements made in these advertisements have deceived, and are still 

likely to deceive, consumers into believing that Kalshi was associated with or 

created as a gambling platform affirmatively endorsed by the federal government. 

Currently, on its social meGLD�SODWIRUPV��.DOVKL¶V�DGYHUWLVHPHQWV� IRU�VSRUWV�HYHQW�

contracts are in close proximity to political events advertisements that use the terms 

³EHW´�DQG�³EHWWLQJ�´�See supra ¶ 104. And in fact, Internet comments indicate that 

consumers were actively deceived on this point. Defendants' false and misleading 

statements have caused harm to the public and, unless restrained, will further damage 

the public.  

226. This deception is also material, as it is likely to cause a consumer to 

SXUFKDVH�.DOVKL¶V� VSRUWV� HYHQW� FRQWUDFWV�� EHOLHYLQJ� LWV� SURGXFWV�ZHUH� XQLYHUVDOO\�

compliant and that Kalshi was a legally compliant sports betting platform.  

227. $V�D�UHVXOW�RI�.DOVKL¶V�IDOVH�DQG�PLVOHDGLQJ�VWDWHPHQWV��the Tribes have 

suffered damages through lost sales and lost profits of their Class III businesses, as 

well as continuing damage to WKH�7ULEHV¶ business, goodwill, and reputation. The 

Tribes have suffered and continue to suffer immediate and irreparable injury for 

which there is no adequate remedy at law. The Tribes are entitled to injunctive relief 

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1116(a). Furthermore, under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a), the Tribes 

DUH�HQWLWOHG�WR�UHFRYHU�.DOVKL¶V�SURILWV�RQ�LWV�VSRUWV�HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV�LQ�DGGLWLRQ�WR�any 

damages sustained and the costs of the action, ensuring that Kalshi does not benefit 

from its unlawful conduct.  

228. An actual case or controversy exists between the Tribes and Kalshi, in 

that the Tribes assert that Kalshi has made false statements of fact in advertisements 

distributed in interstate commerce in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a)(1)(B), while 

Kalshi contends that its advertisements are accurate and comply with 15 U.S.C. § 

1125(a)(1)(B). 

WHEREFORE, the Tribes pray as hereinafter set forth below. 

/ / / 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Pursuant to their claims and causes of action alleged herein, the Tribes pray 

as follows: 

 1. 7KDW�WKH�&RXUW�GHFODUH�.DOVKL¶V�VSRUWV�HYHQW�FRQWUDFWV�WR�EH�RXWVLGH�WKH�

permissible scope of the CEA as self-certified contracts that involve, relate to, or 

reference gaming in contravention of the prohibition in 17 C.F.R. § 40.11(a)(1) and, 

therefore, KaOVKL¶V�FRQWUDFWV�FRQVWLWXWH�LOOHJDO�FODVV�,,,�JDPLQJ�DFWLYLW\�LQ�YLRODWLRQ�

of 18 U.S.C. § 1166 and IGRA; 

2. 7KDW�WKH�&RXUW�GHFODUH�WKDW�.DOVKL�DQG�5RELQKRRG¶V�FRQGXFW�LV�XQODZIXO�

class III gaming activity in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1166 and, therefore, subject to 

injunctive relief under IGRA, 25 U.S.C. § 2710(d)(7)(A)(ii); 

 3. That the Court declare that Kalshi, as a self-certifying registered entity, 

self-regulating the products offered on its DCM, is impermissibly regulating an area 

of Indian commerce, within the field of class III gaming activity in Indian country, 

outside the permissible scope of the CEA, where IGRA occupies the field of 

regulation and grants Tribes the exclusive right to regulate class III gaming activity 

on Indian lands; 

 4. That the Court declare that Kalshi¶V�gambling activities on the Tribes¶ 

Reservations violates the Tribes¶ Gaming Ordinances and constitutes an 

impermissible interference with the ability of the Tribes to govern themselves on 

their Reservations under their own laws; 

 5. That the Court preliminarily and permanently enjoin Kalshi and 

Robinhood IURP�RIIHULQJ�VSRUWV�HYHQWV�FRQWUDFWV�RQ�WKH�7ULEHV¶�,QGLDQ�ODQGV�� 

 6. 7KDW� WKH� &RXUW� GHFODUH� WKDW� .DOVKL� DQG� 5RELQKRRG¶V� MRLQW� FRQGXFW�

demonstrate systematic engagement in a pattern of racketeering activity in violation 

of RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c); 

 7. 7KDW�WKH�7ULEHV�EH�DZDUGHG�WUHEOH�GDPDJHV��FRVWV��DQG�DWWRUQH\V¶�IHHV�

pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c) and the Tribes¶ own attorney fee ordinances; and 
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8. That the Court order injunctive relief as permitted by 15 U.S.C. § 

1116(a), and award damages, including disgorgement of ill-gotten gains, lost profits, 

FRVWV��DQG�DWWRUQH\V¶�IHHV��DV�SHUPLWWHG�E\����8�6�&���������D���DQG 

 9. That the Court grants such other and further relief as may be deemed 

appropriate. 
       

Respectfully Submitted, 
           
DATED: July 22, 2025   RAPPORT AND MARSTON 
 
                  By: /s/ Lester J. Marston      

LESTER J. MARSTON, Attorney for the Blue 
Lake Rancheria, Chicken Ranch Rancheria 
of Me-Wuk Indians, and the Picayune 
Rancheria of Chukchansi Indians  
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